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Strategic Report

The directors present their Strategic report, together with the audited financial statements of Aquila Topco
Limited (the "Company"} and its subsidiary undertakings (together the "Group”) for the period from 30 June
2023 to 30 April 2024. Aquila Topco Limited was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 30 June 2023 and
the period end was subsequently shortened to align with other Group companies. There are no comparative
results presented for the period, in either the Strategic or Directors' report, as this is the first period of
reporting for the Company and the Group.

For the purposes of these financial statements "DWF" or the "Group” represents the collective name for the
global providers of integrated legal and business services comprising Aquila Topco Limited and its
subsidiary undertakings. The Group has approximately 4,000 people with offices and associations located
across the globe. For more information visit: dwfgroup.com

Our business

DWF is a leading global provider of integrated legal and business services. Across eight key sectors we
deliver Legal Services, Legal Operations and Business Services — which we can combine to deliver
bespoke solutions for clients.

On 21 July 2023, the board of Aquila Bidco Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and DWF
Group plc announced that they had reached an agreement on the terms of a recommended cash offer by
Agquila Bidco Limited to acquire the entire issued and to be issued ordinary share capital of DWF Group plc.
On 3 October 2023, Aquila Bidco Limited acquired 100% of the issued share capital of DWF Group plc.
DWF Group plc re-registered as a private company on 4 October 2023 under the name of DWF Group
Limited.

Aquila Topco Limited is registered in England and Wales and managed by Inflexion, with the investment
made from Inflexion Buyout Fund VI Limited.

Inflexion

Inflexion Private Equity Partners LLP (Inflexion) is a private equity firm that provides capital investments in
exchange for share ownership in high growth businesses across a variety of sectors. T L Green & S A
McPhail of Inflexion hold director positions in the Company and reflect the objectives of the ultimate
shareholders. DWF's Executive Board and senior leaders remain in regular contact with Inflexion and
provide thorough and transparent reporting to the stakeholders.

Our purpose
Our purpose is to deliver positive outcomes with our colleagues, clients and cormmunities.

We achieve this through listening to our clients and delivering our services to meet and evolve in line with
the changing requirements of all stakeholders of the business, taking account of people and planet. Our
ESG and Sustainability strategy focusses on how we do business as well as reflecting our commitments to
our communities, our continued focus on Diversity, Equity and Inclusion and our support for the DWF
Foundation, which to date has awarded over £1m to more than 450 charities

Our business model

We have three offerings — Legal Services, Business Services and Legal Operations. Our ability to
seamlessly combine any number of these services to deliver bespoke solutions for our clients is our key
differentiator. Delivered through our global teams across eight core sectors, our Integrated Legal
Management approach delivers greater efficiency, price certainty and transparency for our clients without
compromising on quality or service,

During the reporting period, our colleagues deliver these integrated services through our Commercial
Services, Insurance Services and Legal Operations divisions.

Commercial Services: combining our commercial Legal Advisory teams and business services including
Global Entity Management, Forensic Accountants, ESG Consulting and Regulatory Consulting

Insurance Services: bringing together more than 1,600 specialists and combining our insurance-focused
legal and business services expertise under a single leadership team
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Strategic Report

Legal Operations: outsourced and process-led alternative legal services, designed to standardise,
systematise, scale and optimise legal workflows

As of 1 May 2024, we integrated our Legal Operations teams within our Commercial Services division. This
is a continuation of our existing strategy to integrate legal and business services across our business.

Our strategy

The Group has a clear vision to become the leading global provider of integrated legal and business
services, building a global professional services business who's DNA is rooted in law. Having listened to
our clients we know there is a growing desire for legal and business services to be delivered in a simpler
and more efficient manner. This core feedback has underpinned our strategy and has been the foundation
of our integrated legal management approach.

Our integrated legal management approach is defined by our ability to seamlessly combine any number of
our offerings to provide bespoke solutions for our clients, Serviced via our global teams across eight core
sectors, we deliver greater efficiency, price certainty and transparency for our clients without compromising
on quality or service.

We support our vision by continuing to build our presence globally through acquisitions, associations and
lateral hires. We embrace a hybrid working model, to allow our clients and colleagues flexibility in where
and how they choose to collaborate and work together.

Through our long-term growth strategy, we pursue sustainable organic and profitable growth, inorganic
growth through M&A and the establishment of new services, and margin expansion through a focus on
operational excellence and cost management. Together, these priorities enable us to fufil our purpose of
delivering positive outcomes for clients, colleagues and communities.

The Group is ultimately governed by our Board of Directors who are supported in the determination and
implementation of the strategic objectives by our Executive Board. The Executive Board constitutes a
diverse teamn of senior leaders in DWF.

Our values

Our values are at the heart of our inclusive culture, providing a clear foundation for our people, and are
integral to the achievement of our strategy. They influence actions and behaviours, complement our
strategic direction and support the integration of people that join our business. We have five values:

» Always aim higher. We exceed the expectations of our colleagues and our clients in everything
we do.

* Be better together. We listen, recognise, and support each other to protect a diverse and inclusive
culture and sustain our business, clients, and communities.

= Disrupt to progress: We embrace change and new ways of working to enhance our performance
and our reputation.

* Keep all promises: By keeping the promises, we make to our colleagues and our clients, we build
trust, loyalty, and credibility.

e Attend to details: We achieve the best results to complex problems by focusing on simple and
effective solutions.
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Key performance indicators for the 7 month trading period ended 30 April 2024

Revenue
£320.9m

Income generated through ordinary business operations

Net revenue*;
£261.5m

Net revenue is revenue less recoverable expenses

Gross profit margin:
B . 50%
Gross profit divided by net revenue

Adjusted EBITDA*

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amoriisation & adjusting items. £40.9m

Adjusted EBITDA reflects the company's underlying financial performance as a result of business
operations excluding none operational expenses such as tax and interest.

Loss before tax

£(51.9)m
This is the loss made before taking into account taxation

Lock-up days*:

Lock-up days comprise work-in-progress (WIP') days, representing the amount of time between 210 days
performing work and invoicing clients; and debtor days, representing the length of time between
invoicing and cash collection.

Net debt™:

Net debt comprises cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearing loans and borrowings (including £227.1m
the supplier payments facility).

*Refer to the Alternative Performance Measures {'APMs’) saction on page 69

Non-financial key performance indicators

Net promoter score:

The proportion of clients surveyed who rank as ‘promoters’ (scoring DWF a 9 or 10), minus the +69

proportion of clients who rank as a 'detractors' (scoring DWF a 1-6)

% Executive Board roles held by women:
The proportion of roles on the executive board held by women

38%

% senior leadership positions held by women: 359
(]

The propertion of roles in career banks 1 to 3a held by women

% ethnic minority representation in senior leadership positions:
8%

BAME representation declared in career bands 1 to 3a

Financial review of the business

The acquisition of DWF Group Limited completed on 3 October 2023, and so the results of the Group reflect
a trading period of seven months to 30 April 2024. During that period the Group recorded revenue of
£320.9m and net revenue (revenue after deducting recoverable expenses) of £261.5m. This trading
performance generated a loss before tax of £51.9m and Adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax
depreciation, amortisation, impairment and non-underlying items} of £40.9m.

Non-underlying items totalled £27.7m in the period, the majority of which related to acquisition related
expenses, run-off costs from the delisting, and one-off costs relating to the Group's investment in
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implementing major IT upgrades. Further detail can be seen in note 2 to Consolidated Financial
Statements,

The unaudited results for the trading business, for the full year ended 30 April 2024, shows net revenue
growth of 14%. Insurance Services saw the fastest net revenue growth at 24%, driven in part by the
successful addition of Whitelaw Twining in Canada in December 2022. Commercial Services grew by 8%
organically, despite a challenging transactional market, while Legal Operations also grew by 8%.

The Group is funded through equity, external debt and cash. Net debt excluding IFRS 16 lease liabilities
as at 30 April 2024 was £227.1m with the principal borrowings of the Group being long term facilities
expiring in 2029 and 2030. The Group has sufficient committed facilities and significant covenant headroom
to continue to operate as a going concern, as well as undrawn ring-fenced facilities which can be utilised
for M&A activity. Refer to note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the
Group's borrowings and terms attached to those facilities.

Lock-up days is the principle measure of the Group's working capital performance and the Group finished
the period with lock-up days of 210 days. Whilst there has been some increases in working capital cycles
due to more on-completion matters, the lock-up day cycle of 210 days reflects the significant amount of
growth the trading business has seen during the last 12 months which naturally increases lock-up days.
However, the average time taken from recording work to collecting cash has not changed significantly from
prior periods.

Details of the group's financial risks can be found in note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Future developments

The Group has delivered a strong set of trading results in the first period since the acquisition of DWF
Group Limited, with unaudited double digit revenue and adjusted EBITDA growth of the underlying trading
business. With the new capital structure in place since delisting, the Group is well placed to go faster in
pursuit of its strategic goals, through both organic growth and M&A, strengthening in key geographies,
markets and sectors. Growth will also be fuelled by a significant investment in IT infrastructure through a
comprehensive digital transformation programme. Having fully rolled out a new people platform, Bob, and
continue the roll out of a new case management system, ShareDo, the Group has also invested in Copilot
for Microsoft 365 which will help users improve their productivity.

On 27 June 2024, the Group announced an agreement to acquire the Australian claims management
business Proclaim Management Solutions Pty Ltd for circa AUD 33.5m (£17.2m). The Group completed
this acquisition on 30 August 2024, demonstrating the Group's commitment to expanding its footprint in key
global markets. '

On 1 July 2024, Steve Varley was appointed by Inflexion as the Independent Non-executive Chair of the
board.
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Sustainability and ESG strategy

As a purpose-led business our ambition is to deliver positive outcomes with our colleagues, clients and
communities. Our Sustainability and ESG strategy was developed to achieve this by addressing the
material issues identified by our key stakeholders, whilst simuttaneously driving progress against the UN
Sustainable Development Goals.

The Group's Sustainability & ESG strategy is built around six strategic pillars: Climate Action, Diversity &
Inclusion, Empowering Colleagues & Communities, and Supporting & Connecting with Clients; all
underpinned by Acting with Integrity, and Building Trust and Increasing Transparency. Full details of each
pillar, related metrics and targets, and progress to date can be found in the Group's ESG & Sustainability
Report available on the website www.dwfaroup.com/en/esg-and-corporate-sustainability.

The strategy focusses on demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance to manage the
impact of the business on society and the environment. Within these categories it addresses the Group's
impact on matters related to: environmental issues, employees, social community and human rights issues,
and gender diversity. Further detail on each of these matters is set out below.

Environmental matters

The Group's climate action strategy focuses on activity to address the integrated challenges of climate
change and biodiversity loss. Work in this area covers the direct impact of the Group's business operations
on the environment as evidenced primarily through its: approved near-term Science-Based carbon
reduction targets and operational carbon reduction plan; commitment to Net Zero target development; and
longstanding 15014001 certification. The Group simultaneously drives ambition in this area by supporting
clients to deliver their own environmental goals, and leading on industry-wide collaboration to accelerate
action as an inaugural signatory of the Legal Charter 1.5 amongst other initiatives. Full details of this work
can be found in the Group's ESG & Sustainabilty Report available on the website
www.dwfaroup.com/en/esg-and-corporate-sustainability.

The Group also voluntarily reports under the recommendations of the Task Force for Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures within its ESG & Sustainability Report, addressing its approach to managing climate-
related risk and opportunity.

The Group's response to the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting requirements are set out on page
9.

Employees, Social, Community and Human Rights Issues

Each pillar of the Group's ESG & Sustainability strategy has the potential to drive positive social impact ~
directly through specific initiatives to improve colleague experience and benefit local communities, and
indirectly through its environmental stewardship and its work supporting clients to deliver their own ESG
priorities. The strategy also outlines how we will ensure our approach to responsible business is built into
the advice we provide to clients and the manner in which it is delivered.

The Group has a comprehensive governance framework supported by policies and procedures that ensure
all colleagues uphold the highest standards of conduct and ethics. Central to this is a continued commitment
to respecting human rights and upholding the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the UN
Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights in our business and supply chain. Furthermore, we have
no tolerance of bribery and corruption within our business, operations and supply chain.

The Group's dedication to delivering a positive impact with the communities it works within, and wider
society, is centred on its long-standing commitment to volunteering and pro-bono activity, and its support
of the DWF Foundation.

The Group's commitrment to creating an environment in which all colleagues can thrive, develop, and enjoy
their time at work is supported by a range of initiatives that focus on: positive physical and mental wellbeing;
delivering comprehensive learning and development opportunities for all talent; driving strong engagement;
and a commitment to increasing diversity and advancing social mobility within our talent pipelines.

Full details of all of these initiatives, and the metrics and targets demonstrating progress in each area can
be found in the Group's ESG & Sustainability Report on our website www.dwfgroup.com/en/esg-and-
corporate-sustainability. This includes a comprehensive analysis of workforce diversity, including but not
limited to disclosures on gender diversity.
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Gender Diversity

DWF has made gender balance and equality a priority business issues and launched business-wide
targets, including a target for women to hold at least 40% senior leadership positions by 2025.

To meet these targets the Executive Board have reflected on some of the key barriers to progression for
women and have embraced several initiatives to support women through their careers.

As at 30 April 2024 the Group’s gender split was as below:

Male Female Other Undisclosed WOI:;I"I 82
Board of Directors 8 o 0 0 0%
Executive Board 8 5 0 0 38%
Senior Managers 478 258 2 0 35%
All other employees/members 1,350 2,499 2 54 64%
Total Employees/members 1,828 2,757 4 54 59%

DWF Group defines our Senior Managers as individuals who execute strategy and have line management
responsibility.

Whilst we are proud of our achievements thus far in the area of gender diversity the Executive Board
acknowledges that the work to support women in the workplace is far from complete. We have set a target
to increase the proportion of women in senior management and board roles to at least 40% across the
Group and Executive board by 2025. This is being reviewed following the changes in status of DWF but
will have a similar ambition.

Further information on the work being performed around the gender pay gap can be found within our
Diversity Pay Report available via our website hitps//dwigroup.com/en/about-us/diversity-and-

inclusion/gender-and-diversity-pay-gap.

Climate action

Our largets
Reduce scope 1, scope 2 and scope 3 emissions, as defined in the Global GHG Protocol, down 50% from
2019, by 2030.

2019 May 23 - Apr 24 Reduction
.
Scope 1 {tCO2e) 353.0 119.1 _ (e6)%
Scope 2 (_t_(_:OZe) 7339 253.8 {65)%

DWF Group to date has reduced its scope 1 and scope 2 emissions from 2019 levels by 66% and 65%
respectively. This has been achieved primarily through converting electricity sources to renewable energy
suppliers, as well as more effective use of our office spaces reducing overall energy usage.

Further information on the work being performed to reduce scope 1, scope 2 and scope 3 emissions can
be found within our ESG & Sustainability Report available via our website www.dwfgroup.com/en/esg-and-

corporate-sustainability.

OQur priorities
¢ Continuing to develop our operational carbon reduction plan that will focus on the areas of our
operating model that contribute the most to our carbon footprint, being: our offices and associated
resource use; business travel and commuting; and the purchase of third party goods and services.
» Our near-term targets form a crucial foundation for our Net Zero ambitions, and we are now
focusing on developing an ambitious long-term net zero target in line with the SBTI guidelines.

Aquila Topco Limited (No. 14971854) 8
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s Invest further in technological solutions to enable accuracy and completeness of data and analytics.
¢ Incorporate additional mandatory environmental climate action training for all our colleagues.

Actions faken

¢ To ensure that financial accountability is fully embedded within our policies, a companyw:de target
has been set for each team to reduce their travel by 5% year on year.

+ Akey focus in FY24 was to identify opportunities for carbon offsets to compensate for the emissions
we still make whilst we embed our strategies to reduce them. We have engaged with a number of
partners to progress this work, and we have focused on refining our Scope 3 datasets to ensure
that we have clear visibility of the level of offset required before finalising our credit procurement
strategy.

Energy and Carbon Report
The Group's Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting disclosures reflect a 12 month period from 1 May

2023 to 30 April 2024. The extended period has been disclosed to ensure that the figures presented are
meaningful and comparable.

UK totals International totals Total Increase/ Total
Decrease
2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 YoY 2022/23

Energy consumption
The following data reflects total energy consumed

Gas and fuel (kWh) §82,060 - 882,060 Decrease 976,718
Electricity (kWh) 2,711,084 2,378,474 5,089,558 increase 4,897,559
Total energy used

(kWh) 3,593,144 2,378,474 5971618 Increase 5,874,277

% split across UK
and international
sites 60% 40%

Energy consumption

The following dala reflects non-renewable energy consumed only ol

Electricity {kWh) 1,004,908 1,004,908 Decrease 1 205 397 )
% split across UK

and internaticnal

sites 0% 100%

Carbon emissions — location based
Scope 1 emissions

(tCO2¢) 119.1 - 119.1  Decrease 178.3
Scope 2 emissions
{tCO2e} - 263.8 2538 Decrease 13726
Total scope 1 & 2

_emissions {tCO2e) 119.1 253.8 372.9  Decrease 1,550.9
Intensity ratio
tCO2e per
employee 0.04 0.15 0.08  Decrease 0.12

DWF utilise a third party system (Accuvio) to record monthly energy data which is converted into CO2e
measurements using jurisdiction-specific conversion factors. The assessment of CO2e emissions follows
the market-based approach for assessing Scope 2 emissions from glectricity usage.

The Board concluded that the Group is well placed to deliver its broader strategic objectives in the face of
climate change by: continuing to effectively integrate its assessment of climate-related risks into its overall
risk management process; and continuing to innovate and adapt its integrated legal services to meet the
changing needs of clients as they adapt to the transition to a low-carbon economy.
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It also recognised that to effectively manage these climate-related impacts, it must continue to educate and
engage all colleagues to consider climate change in the context of their individual roles and responsibilities,
so that the Group is well placed to respond to the volatility that climate change will cause within its operating
environment.

The Group publishes further carbon information within its ESG & Sustainability Report which includes
reporting required by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures report. This is report is
published annually and can be found on the Group's website at www.dwfgroup com/en/esg-and-corporate-
sustainability

Risk management

DWF acknowledges that effective risk management is crucial to the success of our business and our
ongoing growth. The Group's risk appetite, set by the Board and reviewed annually, sets out how we
balance risk and opportunity in pursuit of our objectives. The Group's approach to risk is outlined in the Risk
Management Framework which is reviewed annually by the Executive Risk Committee and the Board of
Directors.

Our Executive Risk Committee sits quarterly, to hear from each of the Divisional CEOs and Functional
heads on their key risks. They are also issued with a Chief Risk Officer report on a quarterly basis which is
used to identify the key risks to the business as well as inform the Group's appetite for these.

The Group maintains risk registers for each division, which are then collated to populate and highlight the
key group risks within the Group Strategic Risk Register. All of these registers are reviewed quarterly with
the Executive Board.

Risk Appetite

Averse Avoidance of risk and uncertainty in achievement of key deliverables or initiatives is paramount.

Activities undertaken will only be those considered to carry virtually no residual risk.

Minimalist Preference to undertake activities considered to be very safe in the achievement of key
deliverables or initiatives. Activities will only be taken where they have a low degree of residual
risk. The associated potential for reward/pursuit of opportunity is not a key driver in selecting
activities.

Cautious  Willing to accept/tolerate a degree of risk in selecting which activities to undertake to achieve
key deliverables or initiatives, where we have identified scope to achieve significant reward
and/or realise an opportunity. Activities undertaken may carry a high degree of inherent risk
that is deemed controllable co a large extent.

Open Undertakes activities by seeking to achieve a balance between a high likelihood of successful
delivery and a high degree of reward and value for money. Activities themselves may
potentially carry, or contribute to, a high degree of residual risk.

Hungry Eager to be innovative and choose activities that focus on maximising opportunities (additional
benefits and goals) and offering potentially very high reward, even if these activities carry a
very high residual risk.

DWF overall maintains a 'cautious' risk appetite; this is tempered with an ‘averse' risk appetite for
criminality and non-compliance in the areas of conduct and ethics.

As a Group, we will only behave in ways that:

do not conflict with the Group's values and are aligned with its risk appetite and business strategy;
do not expose the Group's capital position or the resilience of its services;

do not conflict with the Group's ESG Strategy and are aligned with the needs to reduce any
negative impact we may have on our planet and communities;

are aligned with the needs of the Group's clients and ensure that they are treated fairly; and

are always in accordance with local laws and regulations.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Business,
commercial and
strategy risk

Business, commercial and strategy risk refers to the potential that the Group's
financial performance or position will be adversely affected by internal or external
factors. These risks can stem from a variety of sources, including financial
uncertainties, lega! liabilities, strategic management errors, accidents, and natural
disasters.

In DWF, the primary risks relate to aspects such as compliance with regulatory

requirements, client attrition and reputation management.

Risk appetite: We continue to retain an Risk Continuing to deliver to a broad client
overall ‘open’ risk appetite mitigating base across diverse sectors, through a
when managing our business action: wide-ranging portfolio of integrated legal
model and strategy. and business products and services, has
Our relationships with our enabled us to limit negati\fe !mpactslfrom
clients, regulators, sector and external f_actors anq optimise business
all stak'eholders aFe based on oppc_:r.turjltlgs.. ALV NG Ep
our reputation, and we retain multi-jurisdictional re;ach has ensured
g risk appetite in that we are well equp_ed to handle the
that regard material macroeconomic challenges as

v well as more local changes in laws, client

needs and the range of demands on our
colleagues.
The integration of M&A activity has been
enhanced to ensure colleagues globally
are aligned and service to clients is
seamless. Furthermore, the inception of
dedicated teams to onboard and support
key clients, ensure expectations are
understood. We have undertaken a
strategic cost review to ensure our
operating structure, processes and real
estate strategy is aligned to our
profitability and sustainability goals.

People risk People risk refers to the potential for employee-related issues to negatively impact
the Group. It encompasses a range of human resources-related risks including talent
management, succession planning, employee engagement, compliance with labour
laws, and the protection of sensitive employee data.

Risk appetite: The expertise, commitment Risk With  ever-increasing job  market
and professionalism of our mitigating demands, we focus on attracting and

colleagues have enabled the action:
DWF of today. To protect

that, we have a ‘cautious’
appetite for risks that threaten

our ability to recruit and retain

our colleagues.

We have an ‘averse’ risk
appetite for discrimination,
bullying and unfair treatment
of our colleagues, and
actively promote our Diversity
& Inclusion agenda.

retaining the highest calibre of
individuals who are best placed to deliver
service excellence for our clients.

We have broadened the scope of, and
been more innovative in, our approach to
reward and recognition.

To achieve our purpose of delivering
positive outcomes with our colleagues,
we have a Code of Conduct and an
ethos of supporting, developing and
incentivising our colleagues through
‘DWF Life’, buiit on our values, culture
and excellence.

Aquila Topco Limited {No. 14971854)
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Conduct and
ethics risk

Conduct and ethics risk refers to the potential for unethical behaviour or misconduct
by an employee, management, or third parties associated with the Group. This type
of risk can lead to legal penalties, financial loss, and damage to DWFs reputation.

Risk appetite:

We continue to have an Risk
‘averse’ risk appetite for any mitigating
risks that threaten our ability action:

to comply with all relevant

laws and regulations.

The Group maintains an active dialogue,
and strong relationships, across all its
key regulators. This ensures awareness
of changing legal and regulatory
landscapes, allowing a proactive
approach in ensuring compliance.

ESG risk

ESG risk, refers to the potential exposure to loss or impact that the Group may face
due to its environmental, social, and governance practices or due to the impact of
climate change or societal breakdown on the Group. This includes risks associated
with climate change, resource scarcity, pollution, labour practices, employee
engagement, executive remuneration, and board diversity, among others.

Risk appetite:

Within ESG, the following Risk
categories have been mitigating
identified where potential action:
risks may be sited; Setting

and achieving Net Zero
target, Diversity & Inclusion
Targets, Governance on Pro

Bono work, as well as
understanding the work that

we undertake and its
compatibility with our
commitments. A 'Cautious'
appetite was applied in
February 2024, following
review by the Executive Risk
Committee with agreement

by the Board.

At DWF we engage both an ESG
Leadership Group and an ESG
Operational Board who meet monthly.
Our Chief Sustainability Officer, Chief
People Officer and Chief Risk Officer as
well as the CEQ of Insurance services
are all part of the ESG Leadership
Group and the CEQ is briefed monthly
on progress and risks. In addition the
Executive Board is briefed on potential
risks in meeting our ESG targets
escalating ESG risks. Our ESG Strategy
and pillars, each with targets and
priorities, enable us to stay focused, and
objectives for colleagues have been
identified and are tracked.

ESG targets are measured and have
been included within all managers'
performance objectives to ensure these
matters remain at the forefront of our
businesses strategy.

Our Risk Registers highlight potential
risks to the firm of climate change,
biodiversity loss, societal breakdown
and change in governance and is
regularly reviewed with actions in place
to mitigate risk.

Aquila Topco Limited {No. 14971854)
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Operational risk

Operational risk refers to the potential for loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people, systems, or from external events.

Risk appetite: Qur Operational risk appetite Risk A key focus over the past financial period
is cautious. mitigating has been the sourcing, development and
W Akt BT action: implementation of our transformational
threaten our ability to comply projects. These will all support our
e ) s P e objective of a sustainable Global

iionsWraatinalialing Operating Model for the future and the first
e S ting significant global system, which is our HR
mapproprlate dlsclosure“or system, has been implemented very
processing of sensitive successfully
information or data we have .
applied an 'averse' appetite. We have continued to invest in
We have maintained and. in a infrastructure and security controls to
f ! further protect us and our clients from
e = qegs. increasing global, and particularly legal
strengthened appropriate sector cyber-attacks
operational processes, i
systems and controls to
support delivery of, and
enhancement to, those
systems. This provides us the
opportunity to take well
managed risks where
opportunities to create
discernible benefits through
innovation could assist in the
achievement of our
objectives.
Financial and Financial and reporting risk refers to the risk that the group will not be able to meet its

reporting risk

financial obligations due to poor working capital or cash flow management.

Risk appetite:

We have maintained our
‘minimalist  appetite  for
finance and reporting risk,
including liquidity risk and for
any risks that may threaten
our financial stability.

Risk
mitigating
action:

Forecast covenant compliance s
reviewed on a monthly basis by the
Group Treasury function. This exercise
reflects reported results as well as
regular updates to forecast results.
Scenarioc analysis, alongside these
monthly reviews, is performed on a
regular basis to ensure reasonable worst
case scenarios do not cause an
unexpected financial stability issue and
any material events can be pre-emptively
managed.

Liquidity risks brought about by
unexpected and material professional
indemnity claims are mitigated, in part, by
the insurance policies we hold across the
Group.

Aquila Topco Limited {(No. 14971854)
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Strategic Report

Financial crime
risk

Financial crime risk refers to the potential for financial losses, sanctions, and
reputational damage that the Group may face as a result of failing to comply with laws
and regulations designed to prevent financial crime. This includes risks associated
with money laundering, terrorist financing, fraud, corruption, and other illegal activities

that involve financial transactions.

Risk appetite:

We do not waver on our Risk

‘averse’ risk appetite for mitigating
internal  fraud or the action:
inadvertent facilitation of

financial crime (including anti-
bribery and corruption).

Fraud and general financial
crime have become more
prevalent across the legal
sector over the past few
years,

We continue to maintain, and
regularly review, appropriately
robust controls and sanctions
to maximise our prevention,
detection and deterrence of

The Group has a suite of policies and
mandatory training implemented which
is regularly reviewed to ensure we are
able to identify and mitigate the risk of
any suspicious activity. We have various
risk assessments undertaken on new
clients and new matters. Cur Anti-
Bribery and Corruption policy is an
example of one of our financial crime
policies.

We also have a Speak Up policy and
Speak Up hotline should anycne have
the need to report on suspicions, and we
take these very seriously, with rigorous
and in-depth investigations carried out
on any reports. Subsequent actions are
taken on investigative findings and

potential  financial crime

- lessons learned.
activity.

Our Executive Board continues to horizon scan and monitor emerging risks and uncertainties that could
impact our business, such as economic risk/inflation and Government instability, and are always poised to
take mitigating actions to protect our business and our clients.

Financial risk management

The Group's trading and financing activities eéxpose it to various financial risks that if left unmanaged could
adversely impact on current or future earnings. These risks can be categorised as credit risk, liquidity risk,
market risk (interest rate risk and foreign currency risk) and capital risk.

Information on the Groups financial risk management can be found in note 19 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Board Composition

DWF is governed ultimately by our Board of Directors (the "Board") who are supported on a day-to-day
basis by our Executive leadership team (the "Executive Board").

The composition of the Board is considered to be appropriate and proportional to the nature and risks of
the business. The nine members of the Board bring a wide range of skill and experiences to the business,
ensuring the knowledge exists to challenge the strategy and facilitate operations, in order to drive the
ongoing success of the Group.

The Directors of the Company in office who served throughout the pericd are listed within the Directors
report.

Directors appointed by Inflexion are identified within the "Our business" section of the Strategic Report.
The Executive Board

The Executive Board is a team of senior leaders within the Group that determine the strategy and drive the
operations of the business. At the date of this report our Executive Board is made up of 10 individuals who
are all active executive sponsors for our employee-led networks.

Aquila Topco Limited (No. 14971854) 14



Strategic Report

Statement by the directors in performance of the statutory duties in accordance with s172(1)
Companies Act 2006

The Directors have had regard to the maltters set out in section 172(1) when performing their duties. They
consider they have acted in good faith, in the way that would be most likely to promote the success of the
Company for the benefit of its members as a whole, while also considering the broad range of stakeholders
who interact with and are affected by our business.

Details of how the Directors have had regard to section 172(1) in carrying out their duties in making key
decisions and engaging with stakeholders is set out below:

Our colleagues (employees and partners)

Why we engage
Our colleagues are the heart and soul of our business and the key to its success. It is important to
properly incorporate our celleagues' views in Board decision making.

We understand that it is vital that we recruit, retain and develop the best people. By doing this we will be
able to implement our strategy and fulfil our purpose.

How we engage

Virtual Global Town Halls hosted by the Group Chief Executive Officer and supported by Non-
Executive Directors or Executive Board members, as appropriate

Email digests and recorded video briefings sent three times a week to all colleagues

Global Pulse Surveys

Rubix, our Company intranet, provides a range of useful information for our colleagues and
updates on the performance of the Company and other business matters

Informal colleague engagements with Non-Executive Directors

Rubies and Achievers colleague recognition platforms

Qutcome of engagement

*

Increased provision and support for flexible working

Improved guidance on managing mental health and wellbeing

Pulse Forum to consider the results of the Pulse Survey and provide recommendations to further
improve our people proposition, comprising representatives from across our locations, offices
and career levels

Developing our premises strategy following responses to the global colleague survey, with
improvements made to office locations and facilities

Aquila Topco Limited (No. 14971854) - 15



Strategic Report

Clients

Why we engage
The Group would not exist without its clients. Clients are fundamental to everything we do, and so it is
important we understand how we need to evolve to provide them with the right support.

How we engage
* Key Account Programme with a dedicated Executive Board sponsor
« Client Census to discover satisfaction metrics and key themes of feedback
o Client Relationship Partners

Qutcome of engagement

e Where global law firms typically score between 25 and 40, the Group received an above industry
average client Net Promoter Score of +69, up from +62 in last year's census

e Out of 512 clients surveyed, 85% of our clients rated us a 6 or 7 on a scale of 1 — 7 for client
satisfaction

e A strong record of retaining existing clients and winning new business. In FY24, we secured
more than 30 panel appointments or reappointments including with BT, Tesco, Aspen Insurance
and Cadent Gas.

Suppliers

Why we engage
DWF's engagement is aimed at ensuring that our suppliers are delivering cost-effective services, meeting
our core ESG and sustainability values and conducting business in-line with our Supplier code of conduct
to create a mutually beneficial relationship.
How we engage

+ Through a fair and consistent evaluation process

e Use of competitive Request for Proposal ('RFP') processes where appropriate

e Conduct assurance on selected suppliers

¢ Outlining our expected supplier behavicurs in the Supplier code of conduct

* Regular review meetings with key suppliers

s Ongoing feedback to maintain openness and to improve value from supplier relationships

Outcome of engagement
« Strong supplier relationships
e A robust procurement framework which includes a fair selection process that is continually
evaluated for improvements,

Debt providers

Why we engage

Access to working capital is the lifeblood of any business, especially in the cyrrent environment as
companies need to ensure they have sufficient liquidity to navigate the challenges presented by the
macroeconomic environment. It is essential we have strong relationships with our banking providers and
that they are clear about our strategy.

How we engage
» Regular reporting and presentations on our results and annual budget
s Management have regular discussions with our banks about our strategic priorities
e Reporting to bank and lending facilities in line with the requirements of the financing agreements

Outcome of engagement
+ Strong and supportive relationships

Shareholders

Aquila Topco Limited (No. 14971854) 16



Strategic Report

Why we engage

Aquila Topco Limited, via its subsidiary companies and as instructed by its ultimate parent, Inflexion,
acquired 100% of the shareholding of DWF Group plic during the period. The former DWF Group Plc
shareholding partners have retained an interest in the company via preference shares and loan notes.

How we engage
¢ Financial reporting and trading updates delivered monthly
¢ Regular Board and strategy meetings

¢ Management attend relevant conferences and meet with Inflexion and financing
representatives

Outcome of engagement
e Strong relationship with close collaboration on strategy and objectives

QOur communities

Why we engage
We believe that we can build thriving communities in which we live and work, create a skilled and
inclusive workforce today and for the future, and innovate to repair and sustain our planet.
How we engage
e Volunteering in local communities
e Charitable giving by the DWF Foundation
s 5 STAR Futures, our community education programme, workshops and awards evening
¢ Pro bono work
e  Working in collaboration with responsible business groups including BITC, BITCN, Legal Charter
1.5, NZLA, LSA as well as being members of the UN Global Compact

Qutcome of engagement
» DWF Foundation donated £200,533 through 106 grants investing in education, employability,
health and wellbeing, foodbanks, homelessness-and environment.
s We have delivered 10,533 hours volunteered by our colleagues, of which 3,757 hours invested
in education and employability activities
¢ 1,766 hours of pro bono support

Our regulators

Why we engage
We engage with our regulators in each jurisdiction in which we operate, including the Solicitors
Regulation Authority ('SRA’) in England, which is our largest market, to maintain and build the
constructive and trusted relationships vital to any regulated entity.
How we engage

» Regular meetings with our regulators
Quarterly meetings with our SRA Regulatory Manager
Annual reporting to the SRA on strategy, risk management and regulatory compliance
Attendance at SRA-led Compliance Forum

L

L]

Outcome of engagement
s Constructive relationships and an open dialogue on any ongoing issues, including those raised
by SRA audits
o Regular regulatory updates provided to the Board
» Regular engagement with the SRA which has included a thematic review around AML processes
and specific engagement around the solicitors Accounts Rules and types of work including
residential plot sales
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Strategic Report

Disclosure and Transparency in Private Equity
The Directors consider the annual report and accounts to comply with all aspects of the Guidelines for
Disclosure and Transparency in Private Equity.

The Strategic report was approved by the Board of Directors and signed on their behalf by:

Director Signature: LJM%QLL

Director Name: Chris Stefani

Date: 220000002024 s
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Directors Rep_prt

The Board of Directors present their report on the audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Aquila
Topco Limited (the 'Company'} and its controlled entities {the 'Group'} for the period from 30 June 2023 to
30 April 2024, This financial report has been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards.

Group results and dividends
The results for the period are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 26.

The Company was incorporated on 30 June 2023 and the period end was subsequently shortened in line
with other Group companies. The Group completed the purchase of the DWF group of entities on 3 October
2023 for £342m. Given the immaterial activity prior to the purchase, these financial statements reflect the
seven month trading period from 3 October 2023 to 30 April 2024.

DWF is the collective name for a global provider of integrated legal and business services comprising Aquila
Topco Limited and its subsidiary undertakings. The Group has approximately 4,000 people and offices and
associations located across the globe. For more information visit: dwfgroup.com

The Company did not pay a dividend during the financial period.

Branches
The Company has no overseas branches. The Company's subsidiary undertakings are detailed in note 2
to the Company's financial statements.

Directors
The directors who served during the period:

C J Stefani (Appointed on 4 October 2023)

Sir N G Knowles {(Appointed on 4 October 2023)

M | Doughty (Appointed on 4 October 2023)

R Marks (Appointed on 4 Qctober 2023, Resigned 17 May 2024)
M A Glenville (Appointed on 4 October 2023}

P R Rimmer {Appointed on 12 October 2023)

T L Green (Appointed 30 June 2023)

S A McPhail {Appointed 30 June 2023)

Directors' indemnities and insurance

As permitted by the Articles of Association and to the extent permitted by the law, the Company has
indemnified each Director in respect of any liability arising out of, or in connection with, the execution of
their powers, duties and responsibilities, as Directors of the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings.
The indemnities in force during the period and that continue to remain in force are qualifying third part
indemnity provisions as defined by section 234 of the Companies Act 2006.

The Company also maintains directors' and officers’ liability insurance as provided for in the Articles of
Association. The Directors may also obtain, at the Company's expense, external legal or professional
advice necessary to enable them to carry out their duties.

Charitable donations
No charitable donations were made by the Group in the period.

Future developments
Details of future developments are provided in the strategic report.

Financial risk management
Details of financial risk management are provided in the strategic report.

Going concern

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has sufficient resources to continue its
operations for at least 12 months from the date of signing the financial statements. In particular the Directors
have a reasonable expectation that it will operate under its existing financing facilities, will comply with all
covenants with adequate headroom and settle all other liabilities as they fall due. The Directors therefore
consider it appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial
statements. Further details regarding our going concern assessment are included within note 1.3.

Disclosure of information to the Independent Auditors ;
Aquila Topco Limited (No. 14971854) 18




Directors Report

Having made the requisite enquiries, so far as each of the Directors is aware, there is no relevant audit
information (as defined by section 418(3) of the Companies Act 2006) of which the Company's auditors are
unaware, and the Directors have taken all the steps they ought to have taken as Directors to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information, and to ensure the Company’s auditors are aware of
that information.

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were appointed as the Company's independent auditors during the period
and will be deemed to be reappointed under section 487 of the Companies Act 2006,

The financial statements on pages 26 to 30 were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on their

behalf by:
| J)u,w :

Director Signature: ............

Director Name: Chris Stefani

Date: 22 October2024 .
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Accounts and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the directors have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards and the Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law).

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the
Group for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

s select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

+ state whether applicable UK-adopted international accounting standards have been followed for
the group financial statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101
have been followed for the company financial statements, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

+ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Group and Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group's and Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation in
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Aquila Topco Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:

e Aquila Topco Limited’s group financial statements and company financial statements (the
“financial statements”) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the company’s
affairs as at 30 April 2024 and of the group’s loss and the group’s cash flows for the period from
30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024;

e the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006;

e the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Accounts {the
“Annual Report”), which comprise: the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Company
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 April 2024; the Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows and Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the period then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {(UK) (“I1SAs (UK)”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under 1SAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any materia! uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern
hasis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
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However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a
guarantee as to the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are
described in the relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do
not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any
form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are
required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors Report, we also considered whether the disclosures
required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to
report certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the
Strategic report and Directors Report for the period ended 30 April 2024 is consistent with the
financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic
report and Directors Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibility Statement, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control
as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
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that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK} will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in
respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-
compliance with laws and regulations related to Solicitors Regulation Authority ("SRA") Regulation,
and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial
statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial
statements such as tax legislation and the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s
incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the
risk of override of controls}, and determined that the principal risks were related to posting
inappropriate journal entries to manipulate reported results focusing on journals impacting revenue
and profit before tax and management bias in significant accounting estimates.. Audit procedures
performed by the engagement team included:

s challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting
estimates, in particular around the valuation of unbilled revenue, fair value of acquisitions and
treatment of consideration;

¢ identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account
combinations;

¢ discussions with the Audit Committee, management and internal audit, including consideration of
known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulation or fraud;

s performing unpredictable procedures as part of our audit; and

* reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become
aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events
and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or
through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’
report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a
body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

¢ we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

%4 %earn

Josh Hearn (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Manchester

22 October 2024
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Consolidated Income Statement
Period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024

Period from 30

June 2023 to

30 April 2024

Note £'000

Revenue 3 320,857
Recoverable expenses 3 (59,396)
Net revenue 3 261,461
Direct costs (129,709)
Gross profit 131,752
Administrative expenses (142,354)
Trade receivables impairment 12 (3.431)
Other impairment {106}
Operating loss 4 (14,138)
Net finance expense 5 (35,535)
Net interest expense on leases 5 (2,261)
Loss before tax (51,935)
Taxation 7 3,222
Loss for the period (48,713)

The results are from continuing operations.

Notes 1 to 25 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation,
impairment and non-underlying items)

Period from 30

June 2023 to

30 April 2024

Note £'000

Operating loss 4 (14,139}
Add back:

Amortisation of intangible assets 9 17,640

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 1,643

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 11 8,117

Non-underlying items 2 27,677

Adjusted EBITDA 40,938

All adjusting items listed above are included within administrative expenses within the consolidated
income statement.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024

Period from

30 June 2023 to

30 April 2024

£'000

Loss for the period {48,713)
itemns that are or may be subsequently reclassified to the income statement.

Foreign currency translation differences — foreign operations 2,108
Total other comprehensive income for the period 2108
Total comprehensive expense for the period (46,605)

There is no taxation on items within other comprehensive income.
Notes 1 to 25 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 April 2024
2024

Note £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 9 360,961
Property, piant and equipment 10 7,198
Right-of-use assets 1" 59,966
Total non-current assets 428,125
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 12 272,098
Tax receivable 1,652
Cash and cash equivalents 13 21,820
Total current assets 295,570
Total assets 723,695
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 95,576
Lease liabiiities 15 14,171
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 16,281
Provisions 17 7.796
Amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group 23 34,475
Total current liabilities 168,299
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 20 48,436
Lease liabilities 15 45,322
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 16 232,655
Provisions 17 4,352
Derivative financial liabilities 18 1,214
Loan notes 19 221,663
Cumulative redeemable preference shares 19 47,359
Total non-current liabilities 601,001
Total liabilities 769,300
Net liabilities {45,605)
Equity
Share capital 21 1,000
Foreign exchange translation reserve 21 2,108
Accumulated losses {48,713)
Total equity (45,605)

Notes 1 to 25 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Aquila Topco Limited (Company number: 14971854) Consolidated Financial Statements on pages
26 to 30 were approved by the Board on 22 October 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

NMM J)m;\)g@j;

Sir N G Knowles C J Stefani
Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024

Foreign

exchange
Share translation Accumulated Total
capital reserve losses aquity
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Balance on incorporation - - -
Loss for the period - - (48,713} (48,713)
Total other comprehensive income for the period - 2,108 - 2,108
Total comprehensive expense for the period - 2,108 (48,713) {(46,605)
Shares issued 1,000 - - 1,000
At 30 April 2024 1,000 2,108 {48,713) {45,605)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024

Period from
30 June 2023 to
30 April 2024
Note £'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations before adjusting items 22 37,756
Cash used to setle non-underlying items 2 (23,645)
Cash generated from operations 14,111
Tax paid (6,786)
Net cash generated from operating activities 7,325

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 8 (390,751)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10 (1,211)
Purchase of other intangible assets 9 (385)
Interest received 5 1,914
Net cash flows used in investing activities (390,433)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital 21 1,000
Proceeds from issue of preference shares 19 32,580
Proceeds from borrowings 303,375
Proceeds from loan notes 19 162,981
Repayment of borrowings (45,611)
Payment of loan arrangement fees (9,340)
Repayment of lease liabilities 15 (8.611)
Interest paid (33,493)
Capital contributions by members 23 2,181
Repayments to former members 23 (1,264)
Net cash flows used in financing activities 403,798
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 20,690
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period -
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,130
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 13 21,820

Notes 1 to 25 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Notes to the Financial Statements
Period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024

1 Basis of preparation and material accounting policies

1.1 General information

Aquila Topco Limited (the "Company") is a private company limited by share capital, incorporated and
domiciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006, and registered in England and Wales. The
registered office is 47 Queen Anne Street, Marylebone, London, England, W1G 9JG.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings (together referred to as the "Group")
and the nature of the Group's operations are set out in the Strategic Report.

The presentational currency of the Group financial statements is Pounds Sterling, which is the functional
currency of the Parent Company. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out
below.

These Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the results of the Group for the period from incorporation
on 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024 ("the period")

The following subsidiary undertakings of the Company were entitled to exemption from audit under s479A of
the Companies Act 2008 relating to subsidiary undertakings:

Ragistration Registration
Subsidiary name number Subsidiary name number
Aquila Midco 1 Limited 14971961 DWF Forensic Limited 10749670
Aquila Midco 2 Limited 14972051 DWF Ventures Limited 10749685
Aquila Bidco Limited 14972770 DWF Company Secretarial Services Limited 04176234
DWF Group Limited | 11561594 MOAT Pensions Limited SC134776
DWF Holdings Limited 11552868 Greyfern Law Limited 06666404
DWF Connected Services Group Limited 10826005 DWF (Northem Ireland) LLP NC001393
DWF Connected Services Holdings Limited 10745072 Mindcrest UK Limited 10685700
LDi‘r’n"i':e‘j"""e“‘e" Services Investments 13396833 DWF (TG) Limited 10568838
DWF Costs Limited 10754856 DWF 360 Limited 03556829
DWF Advocacy Limited 10780559 NewCo 4736 Limited 12130043
OWF Resource Limited 11271111 Acuhold Limited 08411526
DWF Claims Limited 10586109 Acumension Limited 03594884
DWF Adjusting Limited 10586114 DWF (Hong Kong) LLP 0OC4422686

1.2 Basis of accounting
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings and
partnership undertakings.

The Consoclidated Financial Statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
International Accounting Standards ("IFRS") and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as
applicable to companies reporting under those standards.

The accounting pblicies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods
presented in the Group financial statements.

The financial statemenis have been prepared on the historical cost basis except where IAS requires an
alternative treatment.

The following amendments to IFRS that have been issued by the IASB will become effective in a subsequent
accounting period but are not expected to have a material impact on the Group:

+ Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendment to 1AS 1)

+ Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (IFRS 18)

e Leases on Sale and Leaseback {Amendment to IFRS 16}

o Supplier Finance (Amendment to IAS 7 and IFRS 17)

* Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to 1AS 21)

¢ Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments {Amendment to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7)
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1.2 Basis of accounting (continued)

Subsidiary and partnership undertakings

Subsidiary and partnership undertakings are entities which are consolidated because they are controlled by
the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. In
assessing contrel, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights. The financial information of
subsidiary undertakings is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

All intra-Group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
the entities within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition methed as at the acquisition date, which is
the date on which control is transferred to the Group.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
« the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
= the fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree; less
s the net recognised amount {generally fair value} of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.

When the excess is negative, a gain on bargain purchase is recognised in the income statement.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, are
expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity.
Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in the
income statement.

When consideration with performance conditions is issued to selling shareholders remaining within the
business, an assessment is performed as to whether the payment is consideration or remuneration, in
accordance with IFRS 3. If it is determined that the payment is remuneration, the transaction will be
accounted for as a separate transaction to the acquisition.

1.3 Going concern

The Directors have assessed the going concern basis adopted by the Group and the Company in the
preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements, taking into account the current financial position
including its available financing facilities, the business model and future outlook, as well as the principal risks
as listed in the Strategic Report. The Directors conclude that the Group and the Company have adequate
resources to continue as a going concern across the period of assessment.

Method of Assessment of going concern

The going concern assessment has been considered for the period to 31 October 2025 and is carried out as
follows:

o The Group's Board-approved budget base case is used to calculate the net debt position, liquidity,
covenant compliance and available headroom over the going concern period.

e The assessment of going concern is carried out with reference to available financing facilities, the ability
to pay debts as they fall due and the covenants associated with the financing facilities.

» Plausible downside scenarios are modelled to quantify the impact of a variety of risks materialising over
the going concern period.

+ Mitigating actions which could be taken are identified, quantified and included in the assessment.

¢ The reasonable worst case scenario, along with mitigating actions, is then used to test that the Group
would continue to have headroom in its available financing facilities, settle liabilities as they fall due and
comply with the associated financial covenants over the going concern period.
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1.3 Going concern (continued)

Financing facilities

The Group closed the year with committed banking facilities of £330m (of which £257m were drawn). The
largest of these is a senior term loan of encompassing £200m term loan, combined with two working capital
facilities compromising £30m initial, with an additional optional £40m to drawdown on and a £60m additional
facility available to be utilised for future acquisitions. The covenant thresholds for the facilities across the
assessment period is set as 4.5x leverage.

Assessment and Qutcome

The directors have considered stress tests based on the possibility of the group not meeting its budgeted
revenue targets and experiencing an increase in lock-up days (refer to the glossary to the financial
statements on pages 69 to 71). The result of these tests indicated that even after considering one or both of
these potential declines in business performance the group can still retain sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities and remain compliant to its financial covenants.

If faced with the reasonable worst-case scenario, the Board also considers possible mitigating actions
available to the Group to maintain liquidity and covenant compliance. These can be swiftly implemented
should the worst-case scenario arise and include (but are not limited to):

freezing recruitment and a slowdown in investment in recruitment and reward,
reducing discretionary operating spend such as marketing and travel;
reducing non-committed capital expenditure;

slowdown of investment in the digital transformation programme;

cost cutting measures in non-fee earning areas

Conclusion

Based on the assessment, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have
sufficient resources to continue their operations for the period of assessment. In particular the Directors have
a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company will operate under its existing financing facilities, will
comply with all covenants with adequate headroom and settle all other liabilities as they fall due. The
Directors therefore consider it appropriate for the Group and Company to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing these financial statements.

1.4 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at
the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at the statement of financial position date are retranslated to the functiona! currency at
the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognised in the consolidated income statement within administrative expenses. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
consolidation, are translated to the Group's presentational currency, at foreign exchange rates ruling at the
statement of financial position date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated at an
average rate for the year where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the transactions.

Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are reported as an item of other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve.
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1.5 Alternative performance measures ('APMs’)
In the reporting of financial information, the Group uses certain measures that are not required under IFRS.

These additional measures provide the Group's stakeholders with additional information on the performance
of the business. The measures are consistent with those used internally, and are considered insightful in
understanding the financial performance of the Group. The Group's APMs provide an important measure of
how the Group is performing by providing insight in to how the business is managed and measured on a
day-to-day basis and achieves consistency and comparability between reporting periods. The APMs are
primarily utilised in the following ways:

- Non-statutory measures; These are often sector specific KPls such as lock-up days, net revenue
and cost to income ratio. These allow greater comparability of the Group's performance within the legal
sector. EBITDA and net debt are also widely utilised within the Group and are both regularly used among
the listed legal sector and other listed businesses.

- Adjusting items; These are adjustments to statutory profit metrics such as profit before tax (‘PBT")
and operating profit. These are items (both recurring and non-recurring} that are material in nature and
include, but are not limited to, costs relating to acquisitions, gain on bargain purchase associated with
acquisitions, disposals and significant events or programmes, some of which span multiple years. These
items are excluded from adjusted PBT as management believe their inclusion distorts the underlying trading
performance,

- Non-underlying items; Non-underlying items, a subset of adjusting items, are non-trading, non-cash
or one-off items where management consider the quantum or nature of such items would distort the view of
the underlying performance of the Group. By removing these items the reader is better able to compare like-
for-like performance that would otherwise be hard to determine.

The following are included by the Group in its assessment of non-underlying items:

A complete list of APM's is included and fully defined in the glossary to the financial statements and details
of non-underlying items is given in note 2.

1.6 Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments, trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables and interest bearing borrowings. Amounts due to members of
partnerships in the Group are also non-derivative financial instruments and are covered in note 1.10.

Trade and other receivables

Under the Group's business model, trade and other receivables are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and represent solely payments of principal and interest. Trade receivables and other receivables are
recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less any allowance for expected credit losses. The Group applies the simplified
approach in measuring expected credit losses.

Trade and other receivables expected to be realised in the course of the Group's operating cycle and those
assets receivable within one year from the reporting date are classified as current assets. All other trade and
other receivables are classified as non-current assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and cash deposits, and also include bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows
only.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Due to their short-term nature they are not
discounted.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less incremental transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
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1.6 Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assels

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets.

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses ('ECL') for trade receivables and contract assets. The
contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics as
the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The expected credit losses on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date, including the time value of money where appropriate.

For other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any
recoveries made are recognised in the income statement.

Credit risk also arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions. For
banks and financial institutions, only reputable counterparties with strong credit ratings are used. For this
reason, no loss allowance has been identified for cash and cash equivalents.

Accounting policies for Contract Assets are discussed in note 1.14.
Derivative financial instruments

The Group's capital structure exposes it to the financial risk of changes in interest rates. The Group uses
interest rate swaps and interest rate caps and floors. Derivative financial instruments are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is
determined by reference to market values for similar financial instruments. The gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement within finance
expense or finance income.

1.7 Leases
At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease, which conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As a lessee

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred and lease payments made on or before the
commencement date, plus an estimate of the costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to
be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.
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1.7 Leases (continued)
The Group re-measures the lease liability {and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset, or to the income statement if the right-of-use asset carrying value has been reduced to nil) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option,
in which case the lease liability is re-measured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate.

» the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is re-measured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due
to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

» alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in
which case the lease liability is re-measured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate.

In calculating the initial present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
specific to each lease at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is re-measured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a
change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Extension and termination options are included in several leases across the Group. The Group determines
the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an option to
extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any period covered by an option to terminate
the lease if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether
it is reasonably certain to exercise an option to renew or terminate a lease. Management considers all facts
and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a
termination option. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a
significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise, or not
to exercise, the option to renew or terminate the contract.

Payments associated with short-term leases, leases of intangible assets and leases of low-value assets (with
a value of less than £5,000) are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in the income statement.
Short-term leases have a term of 12 months or less.

As alessor

Where the Group acts as an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the
sublease separately.

It determines at the inception of a sublease whether each sublease is a finance or operating lease. To classify
each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the sublease transfers substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership of the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. Where this is the
case, it is classified as a finance lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers indictors such as
whether the sublease term constitutes a major part of the economic life of the right-of-use asset.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as lease receivables at the amount of the
Group's net investment in the leases. The Group applies the de-recognition and impairment requirements in
IFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease.

Where sublease payments are received under operating leases, these are recognised as income on a
straight-line basis over the sublease term as part of other income.
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1.8 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for
as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

e Leasehold improvements The shorter of remaining lease term or 10 years

¢ Computer equipment 4 years

¢ Office equipment and fixtures and fittings 7 to 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each statement of financial position
date.

1.9 Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units and is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment.
Brand, customer relationships and order backlog — acquired from business combinations
The Group recognises these acquired intangibles at their fair value at the date of acquisition. After initial
recognition, acquired intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life.
Software
Costs associated with maintaining software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software
products controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets where the following criteria are met:

s itis technically feasibie to complete the software so that it will be available for use;

« management intends to complete and software and use or sell it;

+ there is an ability to use or sell the software;

» it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits;

¢ adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell

the software are available; and
+ the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of software include employee costs.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the
asset is ready for use.

Amortisation

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised to the income statement, through administrative expenses,
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

s  Customer relationships 10 to 15 years
s«  Order backlog 1 to 18 months
s Brand 10 years

e Software costs 4 years

¢ Capitalised development costs 3to 4 years
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1.10 Transactions with and amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group
Divisible profits and payments to members of partnerships in the Group

Members of partnerships within the Group ('members’), under the terms of the relevant members’ agreement,
draw monthly on account. Drawings are based on a fixed share of partnership profits. Any unallocated profit
after distribution to members is included in retained earnings / accumulated losses.

All members have a fixed share that forms part of a wider remuneration package. This amount is reviewed
on an annual basis and'is recognised within the income statement within direct costs. The amounts that are
due to the members are recognised as amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group. See note 23.

Members' remuneration charged as an expense

Members' remuneration charged as an expense is recognised within direct costs. This has been calculated
based on the Total Fixed Annual Compensation Amount, which is the members' annual fixed profit share
plus, for some members, a nominal salary.

1.11 Impairment
Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. For goodwill, which has an indefinite useful life,, the recoverable amount is estimated
each year at the same time.

Cash-generating units ("CGU") have been determined on the basis of service offering, dependencies and
locations of members of the Group. The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value
in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets
that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of
assets (the "cash-generating unit” or "CGU"). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the
purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. For the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated
are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is
monitored for internal reporting purposes but not at a level higher than the Group's operating segment.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amontisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

1.12 Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement
in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash
bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

1.13 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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1.14 Revenue recognition
Revenue
The Group generates revenue primarily by delivering professional services to clients, with the types of
services offered being similar within each of its divisions. These services, when delivered to individual clients,
are almost always bespoke in nature. However, the performance obligations tend to be consistent from client
to client and the two that the Group most commonly satisfies are:

o legal advice and services; and

+ non-legal advice and services that are complementary to legal services

As a provider of professional services, the Group generally does not have obligations for returns, refunds or
other similar obligations, nor does it have warranties or other related obligations.

The amount of consideration the Group receives varies from both service to service and from client to client,
reflecting the bespoke nature of the services provided. The consideration typically reflects the skills and
experience of the individuals who provide the services as well as the availability of similar skills and
experience in the wider professional services market. These factors tend to vary from business to business.

Consideration includes recoverable expenses. Recoverable expenses (often referred to as disbursements)
are necessarily incurred to deliver on the Group's contractual promises to its clients that make the Group
principal in the transaction.

The consideration the Group receives is primarily based on one of three types of fee arrangements:

e time and materials;
o fixed fee; and
¢ contingent fee.

The Group adjusts its estimate of revenue throughout the contractual period of providing services as
circumstances change and are reflected in the income statement in the period in which the circumstances
that give rise to the revision become known. The Group's contractual arrangements comprise a single
performance obligation. Fee arrangements are constrained to the amounts expected to be recovered in
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 15. In most fee arrangements the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for services rendered and, given the bespoke nature of the services provided, recognises
revenue over time as such services are rendered.

The Group measures progress in satisfying the performance obligations as follows:

« For time and materials arrangements, revenue is recognised as the work is performed as captured
daily by fee earners recording time against specific matters at contracted rates. The contracted rates
are constrained to a true recovery rate. The revenue constraint is determined with reference to
historical recovery rates, specific agreements with clients and amounts considered irrecoverable by
fee earners.

o For contingent fee arrangements, revenue is recognised in the same method as the time and
materials arrangements above. However there is a further constraint based on projected success
rate.

» For fixed fee arrangements, the appropriate proportion of revenue to be recognised is measured by
assessing time incurred to date, at an hourly rate that reflects the seniority and expertise of each
individual, as a proportion of the total expected time at these rates for the arrangement.

The Group typically invoices its customers monthly or quarterly in arrears, or for certain projects at the end
of the engagement, but payment terms do vary depending on the types of services being offered or for
individual contractual agreements. As the performance obligation is satisfied, revenue is recognised and
amounts recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue (contract assets) are simultaneously created.
In all contracts the client receives the benefits of legal services provided by the Group over the period in
which the work is performed. Deferred income represents amounts invoiced for performance obligations
which are not yet satisfied.

The Group has determined that no significant financing component exists in respect of its professional
services, as the period between when the Group transfers a promised service to a client and when the client
pays for that service will be one year or less.

The majority of services performed by the Group are in respect of contracts with an expected duration of one
year or less either because the goods or services are expected to be provided within a 12-month period or
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because the client and/or the Group has the right to terminate the contract without substantive penalty upon
the delivery of written notice.

1.16 Financing income and expenses
Financing expenses comprises interest payable, unwinding of the discount on provisions, and net foreign
exchange gains or losses that are recognised in the income statement.

Financing income comprises interest receivable on funds invested, interest income on lease receivables and
dividend income. Interest income and interest payable is recognised in the income statement as it accrues,
using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the income statement on the date the
entity’s right to receive payments is established.

Gains or losses on derivative financial instruments are included within finance income and finance expenses
respectively.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

1.16 Taxation
Current tax

The tax expense represents the current tax relating to the Company and other Group entities. The current
tax expense is based on taxable profits of these entities for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The current tax
liability is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of
financial position date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts
and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on any temporary differences between the
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes and those for taxation purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax are recognised in the income statement, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

A share of the Group's profits is earned by the limited liability partnerships ("LLPs") within the Group. The
taxation on profits earned by the LLPs is, generally, recognised as a liability borne by the members. The
members include a corporate entity and individual persons. The corporate member is subject to taxation on
its share of the LLPs’ profits as set out above. Taxation on the individual persons' share of the LLPs' profits
remains their personal liability so neither taxation nor related deferred taxation is accounted for in the financial
information of the Group, although payment of such liabilities is administered by the Group on behalf of those
members.
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1.17 Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements under IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions which affect the financial information. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant and are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. The critical judgements and key estimates applicable to these financial
statements are set out below.

Critical judgement in applying the Group's accounting policies
Control over the ABS and non-ABS groups

Regulations in certain jurisdictions in which the Group is represented allow Alternative Business Structures
("ABS") where legal firms can be owned by non-lawyers. This is not the case in other jurisdictions ("non-
ABS"). As a result, DWF LLP, the head of the non-ABS group, is not directly owned by any entity within the
ABS group (which includes the ultimate parent, Aquila Topco Limited).

Consolidation of DWF LLP and the other non-ABS entities depends on the assessment of whether a member
of the ABS group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with such entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over such entity. Therefore, judgement is required in this
assessment to determine if the non-ABS entities should be consolidated in the Group financial statements
Control is exercised over the non-ABS entities through a Governance Deed.

A Governance Deed exists between DWF Law LLP (as representative of the ABS group) and DWF LLP.
This Governance Deed mandates that the executive Board of both DWF Law LLP and DWF LLP be the
same, bestowing DWF Law LLP the ability to affect returns of DWF LLP and meaning that DWF Law LLP's
members have rights to variable returns from DWF LLP, and thus can exercise control over the non-ABS
entities.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumption conceming the future, and other key source of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
period that may have a significant risk of causing material adjustment of the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, is discussed below.

Revenue recognition and valuation of unbilled revenue

The amount of variable consideration to be constrained in a time and material contract and the stage of
completion of fixed fee contracts are key sources of estimation uncertainty. When services are invoiced, the
uncertainty is removed so this applies to the unbilled revenue only, recorded as amounts recoverable from
clients in respect of unbilled revenue in the statement of financial position (the contract asset). Respective
amounts are provided in note 12.

For the estimates of revenue constraint and stage of completion, the Group estimates the value of the
services provided to date as a proportion of the expected revenue under the contract. The expected revenue
under the contract is either the anticipated level of price concession or the fixed fee. These estimates are
based on specific client agreements, historical performance and forward-looking factors including improving
efficiencies.

In valuing the Group's unbilled revenue a per-hour recovery rate is used. A 5% increase in the per-hour
recovery rate would lead to a £5.56m increase in the carrying value of amounts recoverable from clients in
respect of unbilled revenue and a £5.5m increase in revenue, profit before tax and equity. A 5% decrease in
the per-hour recovery rate would lead to an equal and opposite impact on the carrying value of amounts
recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue and revenue.
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1.17 Accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
Goodwill and intangible assets

On 3 October 2023, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of DWF Group Limited (formerly DVWF
Group Plc), as part of which it recognised other intangible assets and goodwill as follows:

2024

£'000

Customer relationships 168,000
Order backiog 9,860
Brand 38,200
Goodwill 159,898
Total of intangible assets and goodwill from acquisition 375,958

In valuing these intangibles assets, management are required to use estimates in determining their fair
values. The materia! assumptions used are predominantly the cash flow forecasts used within the relevant
valuation model. To assist in this work, the Group engages external valuation experts for material
acquisitions to assess the fair values of intangible assets. Management review the work carried out by these
external valuation experts and assess the outcome. The fair values of the acquired entities’ balance sheets
are also assessed to ensure that the values reflect the fair value of all acquired assets and liabilities. A 2%
increase in the cash flow forecasts used in the valuation models would increase the acquired intangibles by
£8m with a corresponding decrease in goodwill. A 2% decrease in the cash flow forecasts would result in a
decrease in acquired intangibles by £12m with a corresponding increase in goodwill.

2

Alternative performance measures

APM's are not intended to supplant IFRS measures but are included in response to investor feedback or to
provide readers of the financial statements with additional understanding of the underlying trading
performance of the Group.

APMs are fully defined and information as to why they are useful is provided in the glossary to the financial
statements on pages 69 to 71.

Non-underlying items, included within administrative expenses, are set out in the table below:

Period from

30 June 2023 to

30 April 2024

£'000

Acquisition related expenses a 20,335
Restructuring costs b 934
Plc run-off costs c 1,651
One-off IT costs d 4,583
Professional fees e 174
Total non-underlying items 27,677

Cash used to settle non-underlying items is £23.6m.

a. Acquisition related expenses relate to professional fees in connection with the acquisition of DWF Group
Limited (formerly DWF Group Plc) as well as due diligence and legal costs in connection with assessing
potential acquisition targets, some of which are ongoing.

b. A restructuring programme was executed in certain locations and divisions in the period to improve
efficiency and profitability in line with market demand the costs of which are one-off and not reflective of
underlying performance of the business.

c. Costs associated with the delisting of DWF Group Limited (formerly DWF Group PI¢) are not considered
reflective of the underlying performance of the business.

d. The Group is investing in transforming its global IT operations, and costs in connection with this
programme are not reflective of the underlying performance of the business, this includes costs of
implementation, dual running costs and the costs of decommissioning systems.

e. Certain one-off projects have led to the engagement of consultants and advisors, where these are one-

off in nature they are considered as non-underlying items.
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3 Revenue
The table below shows the Group's revenue from contracts with custorners by division:

Period from Period from
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2023 to
30 Aprii 2024 30 April 2024

£'000 £'000

Revenue Net Revenue

Commercial services 149,474 128,189
Insurance services 163,556 125,605
Legal operations 7,827 7.667
320,857 261,461

The table below shows the Group's revenue from customers disaggregated by geography:

Period from Period from
30 June 2023 to 30 June 2023 to
30 April 2024 30 April 2024

£'000 £'000

Revenue Net Revenue

UK 225,654 173,019
Spain 25,162 25,162
North America 27,047 27,047
Rest of World 42,994 36,233
320,857 261,461

Details of the Group's trade receivables and amounts recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue
and disbursements are disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.

4 Operating loss and auditors’ remuneration
Operating loss has been arrived at after charging:

Period from

30 June 2023 to

30 April 2024

Note £'000

Amortisation of intangible assets — software and capitalised development costs 9 718
Amortisation of intangible assets — acquired 9 16,922
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 1,643
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 11 8,011
Impairment of right-of-use assets i 106
Non-underlying iterms 2 27677
Employment costs 6 166,699
Net foreign exchange loss 2,560
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4 Operating loss and auditors' remuneration (continued)

The analysis of auditors' remuneration is as follows:

Period from
30 June 2023 to
30 April 2024
£'000
Auditors’ remuneration
Audit of the Group financial statements 518
Total audit fees 518
Amounts payable to the Company's auditors and their associates in respect of:
Audit of ﬁpancial inforrngtion of sul?sigliaries. subsidiary undertakings and 160
partnerships of the Aquila Topco Limited
Other services pursuant to legislation or regulation 225
Corporate finance services 1,500
Other non-audit services 176
Total fees 2,579

Corporate finance services relate to due diligence work carried out by the Group's auditors in connection
with Aquila Bidco Limited's acquisition of DWF Group Limited {formerly DWF Group Plc).

5 Net finance expense and net interest expense on leases

Period from
30 June 2023 to
30 April 2024
£'000
Finance income

Interest receivable 1914
1,914

Finance expense
Interest payable on bank borrowings 35,542
Fair value movement on derivative instruments 1,263
Other interest payable 55
Bank and other charges 589
37,449
Net finance expense 38,535
Interest expense on lease liabilities 2,261
Net interest expense on leases 2,261
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6 Employment costs

The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Executive Directors) during the period,
analysed by category, and the aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

Period from
30 June 2023 to
30 Aprit 2024

No.
Legal advisors 2,949
Support staff 1,338

4,287

Period from
30 June 2023 to
30 April 2024

£'000
Wages and salaries 162,571
Social security costs 8,830
Other pension costs 5,208

166,699

The Group operates defined contribution pension plans. The total annual pension cost for the defined
contribution plan was £5.3m and the outstanding balance at 30 April 2024 was £1.5m.

7 Taxation

Period from

30 June 2023 to

30 April 2024

£'000

UK corporation tax on profit 255
Foreign tax on profit 422
Current tax expense 677
Deferred tax credit (3,899)
Total deferred tax credit {3,899)
Total tax credit for the period {3,222)

The effective tax rate is higher than the average rate of corporate tax in the UK of 25%. The difference is
explained below:

Period from

30 June 2023 to

30 April 2024

£'000

Loss before taxation (51,935)
Tax on Group profit at standard UK corporation tax rate of 25% (12,984)
Foreign tax rate differences {9)
Non-deductible expenses 13,081
Brought forward tax losses utitised (5.452)
Tax losses in year not recognised as assets 2,142
Total tax credit for the period (3,222)

The main corporation tax rate in the UK during the period was 25%, and continues to be 25%.
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8 Acquisitions of subsidiaries during the period

On 3 October 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of DWF Group Limited (formerly DWF
Group Plc), incorporated in the United Kingdom, whose principal activity is legal and professional services.
This was the purpose of which Aquita Topco was incorporated on 30 June 2023. The primary reason for the
acquisition was to support the Executive Board to execute its strategy to become the leading provider of
integrated legal and business professional services.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition accounting method as at the acquisition date,
which is the date at which control is transferred to the Group.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities and the associated goodwill arising from the acquisition
are as follows:

Fair value
£'000
Intangible assets 218,401
Property, plant and equipment 8,759
Right-of-use assets 67,267
Deferred tax asset 1,680
Trade and other receivables 250,411
Cash and cash equivalents 20,284
Overdrafts (5.986)
Trade and other payables (74,381)
Corporation tax liabilities (4,457)
Lease liabilities (65,701)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings {133,410)
Provisions (14,135)
Amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group (32,635)
Deferred tax liability (54,015)
Net identifiable assets acquired 182,082
Purchase consideration 341,980
Purchase consideration satisfied by:
Cash consideration 271,639
Loan notes 58,682
Preference shares 11,659
Provisional gocdwill 159,898
Net cash
Cash consideration 271,639
Cash and cash equivalents acquired (20,284)
Overdrafts acquired 5,986
Borrowings acquired 133,410
390,751
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8 Acquisitions of subsidiaries during the period (continued)

The goodwill arising can predominantly be attributed to the skilled workforce of the acquired business.
Transaction costs comprised mainly advisor fees, including financial, tax and legal due diligence. These are
all included within administrative expenses {non-underlying items) within note 2. All cash consideration was
satisfied in cash in the period.

The fair value of trade and other receivables acquired (which principally comprised trade receivables and
contract assets) amounts to £250.4m. The gross amount of trade and other receivables is £260.4m and itis
expected that the full contractual amounts can be collected except for £10.0m, which is provided for.

The following intangible assets were recognised at acquisition. These have been measured at their fair value
through the multi-period excess earnings method for customer relationships and order backlog and the
royalty relief method for brand.

£000
Intangible assets - customer relationships 168,000
Intangible assets — order backlog 9,860
Intangible assets — brands 38,200
Total fair value of intangibles on acquisition 216,060
Deferred tax recognised as a result of the intangibles 54,018
Total fair value on acquisition 270,075

Customer relationships

This represents the value attributed to clients who provide repeat business to the Group. Customer
relationships are amortised on a straight-line basis over 10 to 15 years.

Order backlog

This represents contractual mandates to provide future / continuing services. Order backlog is amortised on
a straight-line basis over 1 to 18 months.

Brand

This represents the value in the umbrella of brands under which DWF trades. Brands are amortised on a
straight-line basis over 10 years.

Revenue and loss before tax since the acquisition date

The table below outlines the revenue and loss before tax since the acquisition date, which is included in the
consolidated income statement for the period, and the annualised revenue and loss before tax had the
acquisition dates for the business combinations been at 1 May 2023:

Revenue Loss before tax Revenue
contributed post- contributed post- inyearof Loss before tax in
acquisition acquisition acquisition  year of acquisition
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
DWF Group Limited 320,857 (51,935) 522,819 (101,040)
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9 Intangible assets

Acquired
External Capitalised
Customer Order software  development
Goodwill  relationahipa backlog Brand costs costs Total
£000 £'000 £:000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Cost
On incorporation at 30 June 2023 - - - - - - -
g‘r’ggg’ﬂfm‘"gg SEqULIIS SV 159,898 168,000 9,860 38,200 1,528 813 378209
Additions - intemally developed - - - - - 353 353
Additions — externally purchased = - - - 32 - 32
Disposals - - - - {181} - {181)
Ef:rfgé énovemenls in foreign - . ] . (44) . (44)
At 30 April 2024 159,898 168,000 9,860 38,200 1,335 1,166 378,459
Accumulated amortisation
On incorporation at 30 June 2023 - - - - - - -
Amortisation for the period - 8,073 6,621 2,228 583 135 17,640
Disposals - - - - (95) - (95}
E;f:r?; nog; énovements in foreign 4 i } : 47 i (47)
At 30 April 2024 - 8,073 6,621 2,228 441 135 17,498
Net book value
At 30 April 2024 159,898 159,927 3,239 35,972 894 1,031 360,961

On incorporation at 30 June
2023

The Group has no contractual commitments for development costs.

The Group's acquisition of DWF Group Limited (formerly DWF Group Plc), generated £159.9m of goodwill
and £216.1m of intangible assets recognised on acquisition. The intangible assets recognised on acquisition

are considered to be material to the financial statements. See note 8 for further information.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the group of CGUs that are
expected to realise economic benefits from the business combination. For the purpose of goodwill
impairment, management have concluded that the Group's aggregation of CGU's are at the Divisional level.
This is the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is monitored and regularly reviewed by
management. The allocation to each of the Group’s groups of CGU is as follows.

2024

£'000

Commercial services 107,683
Insurance services 43,658
Legal operations 8,557
159,898

An impairment assessment was performed in the period. No impairment indicators were noted and no

impairment was recognised.
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10 Property, plant and equipment

Office
equipment
Leasehold  and fixtures Computer
improvements and fittings equipment Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Cost
On incorporation at 3¢ June 2023 - - - -
Additions — on acquisition of DWF Group Limited 2,716 4,387 1,656 8,759
Additions 22 423 766 1.211
Disposals (1,011) (71) - (1.082)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (123) (45) (48) (216)
At 30 April 2024 1,604 4,694 2,374 8,672
Accumulated depreciation '
On incorporation at 3¢ June 2023 - - - :
Charge for the period 227 491 925 1,643
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (90) (38) (41) (169)
At 30 April 2024 137 453 884 1,474
Net book value
At 30 April 2024 1,467 4,241 1,490 7,198
On incorporation at 3¢ June 2023 - - - -
11 Right-of-use assets
Leases as a lessee
Property Equipment Total
£000 £'000 £000
On incorporation at 30 June 2023 - a =
Additions — on acquisition of DWF Group Limited 66,374 893 67,267
Additions 333 - 333
Depreciation (7,759) (252) (8,011}
Impairment (106) - (108)
Remeasurement adjustment 711 - 711
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (228) - (228)
At 30 April 2024 59,325 641 59,966
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12 Trade and other receivables

2024

£'000

Trade receivables 117,208
Amounts recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue 117,229
Unbilled disbursements 13,083
Contract assets 130,312
Trade receivables and contract assets 247,520
Other receivables 2,534
Lease receivables 134
Reimbursement asset 4571
Prepayments 17,339
Trade and other receivables 272,098

The reimbursement asset is principally attributable to the professional indemnity provision (see note 17).

Ageing of trade receivables, amounts recoverable from clients in respect of unbilted revenue and unbilled

disbursements

2024

£'000
Trade receivables not past due 24,478
Trade receivables past due
0 - 90 days 67,148
91 — 180 days 17,493
181 — 270 days 4,627
271 — 365 days 2,331
More than 365 days 10,278
Gross trade receivables 126,355
Amounts recoverable fram clients in respeét of unbifled revenue 117,229
Unbilled disbursements 13,083
Expected credit losses (7.590)
Other impairment provisions (1,557)
Total trade receivables and contract assets 247,520

Lifetime expected credit losses are used to measure the loss allowance. These balances are held against
trade receivables, amounts recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue and unbilled
disbursements. Other impairment provisions are applied against the trade receivables which are not based
on the average expected credit loss rates presented below. The other categories of trade and other

receivables do not contain impaired assets.
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12 Trade and other receivables (continued)

Expected credit loss rates

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled revenue and
have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts.

The average expected credit loss rates for trade receivables and contract assets are presented below.

Group Spain

rates rates

2024 2024

0 -90 days 0.5% 2.7%

91 - 180 days 1.7% 9.6%

181 — 270 days 3.9% 16.6%

271 - 365 days 52% 23.0%

More than 365 days 59.5% 49.7%
Movement in provision for impairment

£'000

On incorporation at 30 June 2023 -

On acquisition of DWF Group Limited 9,980

Provision utilised and other movements {4,264)

Charges to income statement 3,431

At 30 April 2024 9,147

Trade receivables, unbilled revenue and unbilled disbursements are written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Impairment losses are presented as net impairment losses within operating profit.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

13 Cash and cash equivalents

2024
£'000
Cash at bank and in hand 21,820
Cash and cash equivalents 21,820
14 Trade and other payables
2024
£'000
Trade payables 35,845
Other payables 3,910
Other taxation and social security 9624
Deferred income 1,231
Accruals 44 966
Trade and other payables 95,576
Aquila Topco Limited (No. 14971854) 51



Consolidated Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024

15 Lease liabilities

Property Equipment Total

£'000 £000 £'000

On incorporation at 30 June 2023 - - -
Additions — on acquisition of DWF Group Limited 64,808 893 65,701
Interest expense related to lease liabilities 2,228 33 2,261
Net foreign currency translation gain (569) - (569)
Remeasurement adjustment 711 - 711
Repayment of lease liabilities (including interest) (8,331) (280) (8.611)
At 30 April 2024 58,847 646 59,493
Current liabilities 14,171
Non-current liabilities 45322
59,493

The maturity of lease liabilities can be found in note 19. The undiscounted contractual cash flows relating to
lease liabilities accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 is £72.5m. Operating costs, included within
administrative expenses, relating to short-term leases during the period were £0.7m and low value leases
during the period were £0.8m.

16 Interest-hearing loans and borrowings

The Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially measured fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost. For more information about the contractual terms
and the Group's exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, refer to note 19.

Obligations under interest-bearing loans and borrowings

2024
£'000
Current liabilities

Bank loans 656
Other loans 11,267
Supplier payment facility 4,358
16,281

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 240 660
Unamortised finance costs (8,507)
Other toans 502
232,655

Aquila Topco Limited (No. 14971854) 52



Consolidated Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024

16 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (continued)

Bank loans

The Group has a number of committed facilities with a syndicate of commercial banks. These borrowings
are secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of a number of the Group's subsidiaries.

On 21 July 2023, the Group secured a £200.0m term loan facility, £40.0m super senior revolving credit
facility, £30.0m senior revolving credit facility and a £60.0m acquisition and capital expenditure facility.
Included within the bank loans as at 30 April 2024 was an amount of £8.5m in respect of unamortised
capitalised finance costs, which are being written off over the period of the debt. The bank loan position as
at 30 April 2024 is summarised in the table below.

Interest
rate
Total Total (SONIA Repayment
Available Drawdown plus) terms Maturity date
Term loan facility £200.0m £200.0m 6.00% 7 years October 2030
Super senior revolving credit facility £40.0m £33.7m 3.50% 6 years October 2029
Senior revolving credit facility £30.0m £7.0m 5.75% 6.5 years April 2030
f‘a‘;'fi‘lw‘m" e £60.0m . 5.75% 7 years October 2030
0

EUR Facility €7.5m gorm  420% 1 0.5 years October 2024

*EUR Facility interest rates are 4.5% - 5% + EURIBOR
Other loans

Other loans comprise of two separate loans totalling £11.3m, which are both are available for general

corporate purposes.
Supplier payment facility

The Group operates a supplier payment facility with HSBC, which has a limit of £5.0m. This facility is utilised

in paying certain suppliers from time to time and repaid in the short-term.

Analysis of other interest-bearing loans and borrowings is included in note 19
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17 Provisions

Dilapidation Professional

provision indemnity provision Total

£'000 £'000 £000

On incorporation at 30 June 2023 - - -
Additions — on acquisition of DWF Group Limited 4,906 9,229 14,135
Utilised in the period - (3,953) {3,953)
Released in the period (175) (241) {4186)
Provisions made in the period - 2,382 2,382
At 30 April 2024 4,731 7,417 12,148
Current liabilities 379 7.417 7,796
Non-current liabilities 4,352 - 4,352

Dilapidation provision

Dilapidation provisions are established for restoration and reinstatement costs for property leases, held at
the date of the statement of financial position. Such provisions are estimated at the start of the lease and
updated annually. The Group's current lease portfolio terminates over the course of the next thirteen years.

Professional indemnity provision

The provision for professional indemnity reflects the Group's expected outflow for legal claims brought
against the Group relating to historic professional services rendered. A provision is only recognised where
an outflow is probable. The probability is established by reference to whether a claim is more likely than not
to be successful. A professional indemnity liability for a claim that is agreed (i.e. the timing and amount of
payments are well understood) is recognised in accruals. Claims are assessed as being settied in full within
the next five years.

Separately, the Group recognises expected reimbursements from professional indemnity insurance when it
is virtually certain that the reimbursement will be received (note 12). No separate disclosure is made of the
detail of such claims or proceedings, or the costs recovered by insurance, as such detail would be seriously
prejudicial to the position of the Group.

There are circumstances of which the Group is aware but there is insufficient information available to either
estimate whether a claim will develop or, where a claim appears possible, make an assessment of the
outflow. Such circumstances are contingent liabilities of the Group.

18 Derivative financial liabilities

2024
£'000
Interest rate swap 1,214
Interest cap and floor o
Non-current derivative financial liabilities 1,214

The Group has entered into two derivative instruments to manage interest rate risk on its term loan:

- An interest rate swap over £75.0m of debt, fixing interest rate with the instrument maturing 11
October 2027

- Aninterest rate cap and floor over £75.0m of debt, with the cap to floor range of 3.40% per annum.
The instrument matures 29 December 2026

More information on the Group's interest risk management can be found in note 19.
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19 Financial instruments

The Directors have overall responsibility for the oversight of the Group's risk management framewaork.

In common with all other businesses, the Group's trading and financing activities expose it to various financial
risks that if left unmanaged could adversely impact on current or future earnings. These risks can be
categorised as credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk (interest rate risk and foreign currency risk) and capital
risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's trade receivables and contract
assets. Credit checks are performed for new clients and ongoing monitoring takes place for existing clients.
A provision is carried for expected credit losses, see note 12.

In connection with the Group's financial instruments there is not believed to be a material risk based on the
nature of the instruments.

Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The

Group maintains sufficient cash or working capital facilities to meet the cash requirements of the Group in
order to mitigate this risk.

The Group is financed through a combination of members' capital {repayable on retirement of each member},
undistributed profits, cash and bank borrowing facilities.

The Group's principal facility is a £200.0m term loan, however shorter term working capital requirements are
funded through the Group's super senior RCF of £40.0m and senior RCF of £30.0m. Details of amounts
drawn can be found in note 16. Management maintain a rolling 12-month cash flow and covenant forecasts
to ensure visibility of short-term liquidity and manage facility usage, in addition to annual budgets and longer-
term planning. The term loan matures in October 2030, with the super senior RCF maturing in October 2029
and the senior RCF maturing in April 2030.

Note 1.3 sets out the financial covenants aitached to the RCF held with the Group's banking syndicate, and
more information on how the Group manages liquidity risk.

The Group has issued rental guarantees of £2.0m denominated in Pounds Sterling, Euros and Australian
Dollars.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will
affect the Group's income. The Group's exposure to market risk predominantly relates to interest and
currency risk.

Iinterest rate risk

The Group's bank borrowings incur both fixed and variable interest charges. The variable rates on its
principal borrowing facilities are linked to SONIA or EURIBOR plus a fixed margin. The Group's exposure
to the variable element of interest poses a risk in both the cash flows and the impact on the income
statement.

To manage interest rate risk, the Group enters into derivative instruments. The Group currently has an
interest rate swap over £75m of the term loan debt to fix the interest rate, and also an interest rate cap and
an interest rate floor over another £75m portion of the term loan.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has overseas operations in Europe, the Middle East, Asia, Australia, and North America and is
therefore exposed to changes in the respective currencies in these territories. The Group maintains bank
balances in local currency. Cash positions are monitored and any imbalances are dealt with by purchasing
currency at the spot rate.

Capital risk

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, as defined in the Alternative Performance Measures,
liabilities arising from financing activities and equity. The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide optimal returns for shareholders.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes to economic
conditions and the strategic objectives of the Group.
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19 Financial instruments {(continued)

Analysis of cash movement from liabilities arising from financing activities:

On  Additions - on

incorporation acquisition of
at 30 June DWF Group Cash Other Non-cash

2023 Limited movements maovements movements 30-Apr-2024

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000's £'000 £°000
Proceeds from issue
of preference shares - - (32,580) - (14,779) (47,359)
Proceeds from
borrowings - {133.410) (148,002) {21,963) - (303,375)
Proceeds from loan
notes - - (162,981) - (58,682) (221,663)
Repayment of
borrowings - - 45,611 - - 45,611
Payment of loan
arrangement fees - - 9,340 - (836) 8,504
Repayment of lease
liabilities - - 8611 - - 8,611
Interest paid - - 33,493 - 3,956 37,449
Capital contributions
by members - - {2,181} - - (2,181)
Repayments to
former members - - 1,264 - - 1,264

- (133,410) (247,425) {21,963) (70,341) (473,139)

Other movements within proceeds from borrowings include amortisation of fees incurred on arrangement of
the facility, over the expected life of the facility, FX impacts and the utilisation of the facility to settle liabilities
with suppliers, with the supplier payments facility being settled with cash when the liability becomes due.
Non-cash movements within the proceeds from issue of preference shares & loan notes includes £11.6m of
preferences shares and £58.6m of loan notes arising from the acquisition, and are non-cash movement (See
note 8). Non-cash movements from the proceeds from issue of preference shares includes £3.1m of interest.

Maturity analysis — Non-derivative financial liabilities

The table below presents the outstanding contractual maturity profile by fiscal year for the Group's interest-
bearing loans and borrowings and lease liabilities. Trade and other payables are excluded from this profile
as they fall due within a year. The maturity analysis of derivative financial liabilities is described above and
in note 18 to the financial statements.

Loan notes and

Borrowings Lease liabilities preference Shares

2024 2024 2024

£'000 £'000 £'000

Year to 2025 16,2814 14,569 -

Year to 2026 163 13,412 -

Year to 2027 163 12,096 -

Year to 2028 163 10,294 -

Year to 2029 14 6,226 -

Later years 240,659 15,903 269,022

257,443 72,500 269,022

Effect of discounting cash flows - (13,007} -

Carrying value 257,443 59,493 269,022
Aquila Topco Limited (hio. 14971854) 56



Consolidated Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024

19 Financial instruments (continued)
Fair value measurement

Financial assets and liabilities are measured in accordance with the fair value hierarchy and assessed as
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the following criteria:
» Level 1: fair value measurement based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;
» Level 2: fair value measurements derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
e Level 3: fair value measurements derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset
or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The only instruments held at fair value through profit and loss are derivative financial instruments. These are
valued using level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The remaining financial instruments are measured at
amortised cost. The carrying values of all other financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values.

The table below sets out the Group's accounting classification of each category of financial assets and
liabilities and their carrying values at the end of the financial period.

2024
Note £'000

Measured at amortised cost:
Cash and cash equivalents 13 21,820
Trade and other receivables 12 124,447
Total financial assets 146,267

Measured at fair value through profit and loss

Derivative financial instruments 18 1,214

Measured at amortised cost:
Trade and other payables 14 84,721
Lease liabilities 15 59,493
Borrowings 16 479,106
Cumulative redeemable preference shares 47,359
Amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group 23 34,475
Total financiat liabilities 706,368

Loan notes

Loan notes of £221.7m are unsecured and redeemable in full on their maturity date in October 2031. Interest
is accrued at 12% per annum, compounded guarterly, and is payable on redemption, at the discretion of the
Group or upen a change in ownership of the Group. These instruments were listed on the Official List of The
International Stock Exchange in December 2023,

Cumulative redeemable preference shares

Preference shares are redeemable cumulative preference shares with a coupon rate of 12% per annum
which compounds quarterly. Half of the annual preferential dividend accrued in any 12 month period may be
paid in cash. The preference shares were issued at a nominal value of £0.0001 per share, with a total issue
price of £0.01 per share and are redeemable eight years from the date of issue, on sale of the business or
at any time at the option of Aquita Topco Limited. The shares are unsecured borrowings of the Group and
are not publicly traded. These instruments are measured at cost and the Directors consider that the carrying
amount approximates to their fair value.

These redeemable cumulative preference shares do not contain any equity component and are classified
as financial liabilittes in their entirety. No dividends were paid on redeemable cumulative preference shares
in the period.
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19 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial instruments sensitivity analysis

The Group has exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate movements given the nature of its
borrowings and operations. At the end of the period, the effect of hypothetical changes in interest and
currency rates are as follows.

Interest rate sensitivity

At 30 April 2024, based upon the amount of variable rate debt outstanding, the Group's pre-tax profits would
change by approximately £1.7m for each one percentage point change in interest rates applicable to the
variable rate debt and, after tax effect, equity would change by approximately £1.3m.

Foreign exchange rate sensitivity
The Group transacts in a range of currencies, but is primarily exposed to changes in the Euro and Canadian
Dollar ('CAD'") exchange rates.

A 20% strengthening and weakening of the above currencies against Pounds Steriing would have the
following impacts on net assets and profit shown below.

This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the statement of financial position date and had been
applied to risk exposures existing at that date. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for comparative periods.

Effect of Effect of

change in change in

EUR rate CAD rate

Strengthening Year £000 £'000
Impact on equity FY24 4,678 4,727
Impact on profit or loss FY24 {1,879) (461)
Effect of Effect of

change in change in

EUR rate CAD rate

Weakening Year £'000 £000
Impact on equity FY24 (3,118) (3,152)
Impact on profit or loss FY24 1,253 307
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20 Deferred taxation
The deferred tax asset is as follows:

2024
£000
Assets
On incorporation at 30 June 2023 -
Additions — on acquisition of DWF Group Limited 1,680
Deferred tax charge in the income statement for the year {332)
At 30 April 2024 1,348

Deferred tax assets of £1.3m have been recognised in respect of tax depreciation timing differences and
other temporary differences. It is anticipated that the Group and certain related subsidiary undertakings will
make sufficient taxable profit to allow the benefit of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. A potential deferred
tax asset of £13.1m has not been recognised relating to £49.2m tax losses in subsidiary undertakings that
are not anticipated to make sufficient taxable profit to allow the benefit of the deferred tax asseat to be utilised.

The deferred tax liability as at 30 April 2024 is as follows:

2024
£'000
Non-current liabilities
On incorporation at 30 June 2023 -
Additions — on acquisition of DWF Group Limited 54,015
Deferred tax credit in the income statement for the year (4.231)
At 30 April 2024 49,784

The deferred tax liability principally relates to the recognition of acquired intangible assets arising from
acquisitions.

21 Capital and reserves
Share capital

2024
£'000
Allotted, issuad and fully paid
100,000,000 A ordinary shares of £0.01 each 1,000
1,000

The Company was incorporated on 30 June 2023 and on this date 2 ordinary shares of £1 each were issued.

On 4 October 2023:
e the 2 ordinary shares of £1 each were divided into 200 ordinary shares of £0.01 each;
+ the Company issued 99,999,800 ordinary shares at a nominal value and paid up to £0.01 per share,
and
s all the ordinary shares of £0.01 each were re-designated as A ordinary shares of £0.01 each.

Foreign exchange translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
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22 Cash generated from operations
Cash generated from operations before adjusting items

2024
Note £'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax (51,935)
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 9 16,922
Impairment of right of use assets 1 106
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 11 8,011
Other depreciation and amortisation 2,361
Loss on disposal of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 1,168
Non-underlying items 2 27,877
Interest expense on lease liabilities 5 2,261
Net finance expense 5 35,535
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 42,106
Increase in trade and other receivables (21,846)
Increase in trade and other payables 18,797
Decrease in provisions (2,581)
Increase in amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group 1,280
Cash generated in operations before adjusting items 37,756

23 Amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group

Amounts due to members of partnerships in the Group comprise members’ capital and other amounts due
to members classified as liabilities as follows:

Total amounts
due to members

Members' Other amounts of partnerships

capital due to members in the Group

£'000 £'000 £'000

On incorporation at 3¢ June 2023 - - -
On acquisition of DWF Group Limited 17,014 15,621 32,635
Members’ remuneration charged as an expense - 31,274 31,274
Unrealised foreign exchange translation differences (194) (164) (358)
Capital introduced by members 2,181 - 2,181
Repayments of capital (1,264) - (1,264)
Drawings - (29,993) (29,993)
At 30 April 2024 17,737 16,738 34,475

The average number of members of partnerships held by the Group during the period was as follows:

2024
No.
Members of partnerships held by the Group 310
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24 Key management personnel

The key management of the organisation are the Executive Directors.

2024

£'000

Short-term employee benefits 3,970
Other long-term benefits 2,347
Contributions to defined contribution pension plans 10
6,327

Directors' remuneration disclosed above includes the following amounts paid to the highest paid Director:

2024

£'000

Short-term employee benefits 815
Other long-term benefits 928
Contributions to defined contribution pension plans 22
1,765

Other long-term benefits relate to the settliement of share awards held in DWF Group Plc as the share award
scheme was settled and ceased as a result of the acquisition of DWF Group Plc on 3 October 2023. Amounts
were settled and paid after the acquisition date, but were accrued prior to this date by DWF Group Plc.

2024
£'000
Aggregate emoluments 1,874
Aggregate gains made on the exercise of share options 2,352
Aggregate amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes 2,000
Company contributions to money purchase pension scheme 101
6,327

Two directors of Aquila Topco Limited received no emoluments in respect to their work for the company
during this financial period.

25 Events after the reporting date

On 30 August 2024, DWF acquired 100% of the shares in the Australian claims management business
Proclaim Management Solutions Pty Ltd, for circa AUD 33.5m (£17.2m). Australia represents the fourth
largest Lloyd's market in the world, behind the US, UK and Canada and as such this acquisition strengthens
DWF's presence in the territory and represents a significant expansion of the DWF's Claims Management
and Adjusting (CMA) and wider insurance capabilities in that market.

At the time of issuing this report the accounting for this acquisition has not been completed and as such
disclosure are limited to narrative information. In particular, the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities,
including the acquired receivables and contingent liabilities has not been disclosed, and has not been split
out per asset class. It is also not possible yet to disclose the value of or factors making up goodwill, or the
amount of this that is deductible for tax purposes. Nor has the total fair value of the contingent consideration
been calculated. DWF has concluded that this acquisition is a non-adjusting event, therefore the financial
statements do not reflect any adjustments related to this acquisition,

On 1 July 2024, Steve Varley was appointed as the Independent Non-executive Chair of the board.
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Company Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 April 2024 B
2024

Note £'000
Non-current assets
Investments 2 45,239
Total non-current assets 45,239
Current assets
Trade and cther receivables 3 88
Total current assets 88
Total assets 45,327
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 4 210
Total current liabitities 210
Non-current liabilities
Cumulative redeemable preference shares 5 47 359
Total non-current liabilities 47,359
Total liabilities 47,569
Net liabilities (2,242)
Equity
Share capital 6 1,000
Accumulated losses (3,242}
Total equity {2,242)

Under section s408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present
its own income statement. The loss for the period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024 was £3.2m.

These financial statements of Aquila Topco Limited (registered number: 14971854) on pages 62 to 63 were

approved by the Board on 22 October 2024,

Notes 1 to 7 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Sir N Knowles -
Group Chief Executive Officer

C J Stefani
Group Chief Financial Officer
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
Period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024

Share Accumulated Total

capital losses equity

£'000 £000 £'000

Loss for the period - (3,242) (3,242)
Total comprehensive expense for the period - (3,242) (3,242)
Issued share capital 1,000 - 1,000
At 30 April 2024 1,000 {3,242) {2,242)

Notes 1 to 7 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1 Material accounting policies

General information and basis of accounting

Aquila Topco Limited (the "Company"), is a private company limited by share capital, domiciled in the United
Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006, and registered in England and Wales. The registered office is 47
Queen Anne Street, Marylebone, London, England, W1G 9JG.

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 “Application of Financial Reporting
Requirements’ issued by the FRC. Accordingly, these financial statements were prepared in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ ('FRS 101'). In preparing these financial
statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of International
Accounting Standards as adopted by the UK ('IFRS"), but makes amendments where necessary in order to
comply with the Companies Act 2006 and has set out helow where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure
exemptions has been taken.

The functional currency of the Company is Pounds Sterling because that is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Company operates. The Company financial statements are presented
in Pounds Steriing.

In the preparation of these financial statements, Aquila Topco Limited has applied the following exemptions
from the requirements of IFRS available under FRS 101:

e IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ (paragraphs 62, B64(d), B64(¢), B64(g), B64(h), B64(j) to B64(m),
B&4(n)(ii), Be4{o)(ii), B64(p), BB4{a)(ii), B66 and B67) — given that equivalent disclosures are
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of the group in which the entity is consolidated;
IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’,

IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurement' (paragraph 91 to 89) — disclosure of valuation techniques and
inputs used for fair value measurement of assets and liabilities;

¢ |AS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’ (paragraph 38) — comparative information requirements
in respect of paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1,

¢ The following paragraphs of IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements”:

- 10(d} (statement of cash flows);

- 16 (statement of compliance with all IFRS),

- 3BA (requirement for minimum of two primary statements, including cash flow statements);
- 38B-D (additional comparative information);

- 111 (statement of cash flows information}; and

- 134-136 (capital management disclosures),

IAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows',

e |AS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ (paragraph 30 and 31) —
requirement for the disclosure of information when an entity has not applied a new IFRS that has
been issued but is not yet effective;

e The following paragraphs of |IAS 24, 'Related Party Disclosures”.

- paragraph 17 (key management compensation); and
- paragraph 18A (related to key management services provided by a separate management entity);
e |AS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ (paragraphs 130(f)(ii), 130{f)(iii), 134(d)} to 134(f) and 135(c) to 135(e}).

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods
presented in the Company financial statements. The accounting policies in note 1 of the notes to the
Consolidated Financia! Statements of Aquila Topco Limited also apply to the Parent Company.

1.1 Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for any impairment in value.

1.2 Amounts due from / to subsidiary undertakings

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are non-derivative financial assets and are recognised initially at
fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amertised cost using the effective interest
method less any allowance for expected credit losses.

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings are non-derivative financial liabilities and are recognised initially at
fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method and due to their short-term nature, they are not discounted.
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1.3 Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements under IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions which affect the financial information. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant and are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. There are not considered to be any critical judgements or key estimates
applicable to these financial statements.

2 Investments

2024
£'000
On incorporation at 30 June 2023 -
Additions 45,239
At 30 April 2024 45,239

On 30 June 2023, the Company subscribed to 2 ordinary shares of Aquila Midco 1 Limited. On 4 October
2023, the Company subscribed to a further 4,523,917,075 ordinary shares of Aquila Midco 1 Limited.

The Group has investments in the following undertakings:

At the Balance Sheet date, the Group controlled the following subsidiaries. All investments are 100% owned
by Aquila Topco Limited directly or indirectly.

Agquila Topco Limited controls its indirect subsidiaries either through its subsidiary, Aquila Midco 1 Limited or
by virtue of Governance Agreements and intra-Group Agreements between the Company, DWF Law LLP,
DWF LLP and other related subsidiary undertakings.

Registered
Subsidiaries address Principal place of business Nature of business
Direct (100% ownership)
Aquila Midco 1 Limited ¢ it UK Investment holding
Indirect
Aquila Midco 2 Limited ¢ i UK Investment holding
Aquila Bidco Limited «? iti UK Invesiment holding
DWF Group Limited ¢ ii UK Investment holding
DWF Holdings Limited © fiii UK Investment holding
Mindcrest UK Limited © fii UK Professional services
DWF Connected Services Investments Limited © ] UK Investment holding
1371969 B.C. Ltd vi Canada Investment holding
1371970 B.C. Lud vi Canada Investment holding
DWF Adjusting (Canada) Limited ix Canada Professional services
DWF Arabia Regional Headquarter (SPC)® Xiv Saudi Arabia Service company
DWF Arabia Business Services LLG {SPC)*® xiv Saudi Arabia Service company
DWF Group (US) LLC xvi USA Investment holding
DWF LLP i v UK Legal services
DWF (Hong Kong) LLP © il UK Non-trading
DWF (Northemn Ireland) LLP * iv UK Legal services
DWF Company Secretarial Services Limited © i UK Professional services
Davies Wallis Foyster Limited * il UK Dormant
Davies Wallis (unlimited}* iii UK Dormant
DWF Solicitors Limited * fii UK Dormant
DWF (Trustee) Limited * fii UK Dormant
DWF Nominees Limited * fii UK Dormant
DWF (Nominees) 2013 Limited * jii UK Dormant
Harborne Road Nominees Limited * iii UK Dormant
DWF Connected Services Limited jii UK Domant
Bailford Trustees Limited * i UK Dormant
DWF Trustees {Scotland) Limited * worix UK Dormant
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DWF Directors (Scotland) Limited * xxix UK Dormant

DWF Secretanial Services (Scofland) Limited * X UK Dormant

Moat Pensions Limited © xxix UK Professional services
Whitelaw Twining LLP wiii Canada Legal services
Whitelaw Twining (Ontario} LLP 0K Canada Legal services

DWF {France} AARP|® xix France Legal services

DWF Germany Holding GbR xd Germany Investment holding
DWF Germany RmbH xxi Germany Legal services

DWF LLP Studio Legale Associato i Itaty Legal services

DWF (ireland) LLP il ROI Legal services

DWF Law LLP iii UK Legal services

DWF Connected Services Holdings Limited © i UK Invastment holding
Resolution Law Limited * iii UK Dormant

DWF Middle East Group LLP* iii UK Dormant

DWF Connected Services Group Limited il UK Non-trading

NewCo 4736 Limited © il UK Non-trading

DWF Law Australia Pty Limited xi Ausiralia Legal services

DWF Australia Holdings Pty Limited X Australia Investment holding
DWF Poland Holdings Sp. z 0.0. Kiv Poland Investment holding
DWF Poland Jamka sp.k ® v Poland Legal services

DWF Spain S.L.P. 0V Spain Investment holding
Rousaud Costas Duran S.L.P. 00/ Spain Legal services
Rousaud Costas Duran Abogados S.L.P. OVl Spain Legal services
Rousaud Costas Duran Concursal S.L.P. 00 Spain Legal services
Roussaud Costas Duran Valencia S.L.P.U, 00K Spain Legal services

RCD Tax & Legal Advisors S.L.P.U. 000 Spain Legal services
Gestart Assessors S.L.U. 000 Spain Professional senvices
Gestart Asesoramiento Empresarial S.L.U oo Spain Professional servces
DWF - RCD Andalucia S.L.P. peed] Spain Legal services

DWF (Middle East) LLP xv UAE Legal services

DWF Claims Limiled © fii UK Professional services
DWF Adjusting Limited® iii UK Professional services
DWF Advocacy Limited © jii UK Professional services
Vueity Limited jii UK Dormant

DWF Costs Limited ¢ jii UK Professional services
DWF Resource Limited* i UK Professional services
Greyfern Law Limited ¢ i UK Professional services
DWF Forensic Limited ® il UK Professional services
DWF Ventures Limited ® iii UK Professional services
DWF (TG) Limited © iii UK Investment holding
DWF 360 Limited © iii UK Software provider
Acuhold Limited * fii UK Investment Helding
Acumension Limited ¢ ii UK Professional services
DWF Adjusting {Australia) Pty Limited xii Australia Professional services
DWF CSA PTY Limited x Austrafia Professional services
DWF Claims (Australia) Pty Limited xiil Australia Professional services
DWF Claims {Canada) Limited ix Canada Professional services
BCA Claims & Consulting Lirmnited vii Canada Professional services
DWF Claims (France) SAS X France Professional services
DWF CMA (Hong Kong) Limited Vi Hong Kong Professional services
DWF Claims (ltaly) S.r.L."° i Italy Professional services
DWF Claims (Ireland) Limited xdii ROI Professional services
DWF Audit (USA) Inc, xvi USA Professional services
DWF Claims (USA) LLC xvii USA Professional services
DWF MGA {USA) LLC xvii USA Professional services
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EBT v UK Trustees
RST v LK Trustees
Whitelaw Twining Law Corporation vi Canada Legal services
TWK Management Limited vi Canada Service company
Mindcrest (India} Private Limited vl India Professional services
Mindcrest Inc. xviii UsA Professional services
WT BCA LLP vi Canada Professicnal services
DWF Australia CMA Holdings Pty Limited * X Australia Investment hotding
a Subsidiary undertakings have been excluded from the consclidation on the basis of immateriality
b The slatutory year end in the pericd baing reported is 31 December
c Entities have claimed audit exemplion for the period to 30 April 2024 under section 479A of the Companies Act 2008,
d Invasimenis have been made during the period to 30 April 2024
[} Invesimenis have baen made subsequent to the reporting pariod.
f Formerly DWF Group Ple.
{ 47 Queen Anne Street, Marylebone, London, England, W1G 9JG
(i) 20 Fenchurch Street, London, United Kingdom, EC3M 3AG
(iii) 1 Scott Place, 2 Hardman Street, Manchester, United Kingdom, M3 3AA
(iv) 42 Queen Street, Belfast, BT16HL
(v) 26 New Street, St. Helier, JE2 3RA, Jersey
(vi} 700 West Georgia Street, Suite 2200, Vancouver, BC, V7Y 1K8, Canada
(vii) 400 - 725 Granville Street, P.O. Box 10325, Vancouver, BC, V7Y 1G5, Canada
(wviii) 810 — 150 9th Ave SW, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 3H9, Canada
(ix) 36 Toronto Street, Suite 1160, Toronto, Ontaric M5C 2C5, Canada
(x} Level 36, 123 Eagle Street, Brisbane, QLD 4000, Australia
(xi) Level 36, 231 George Street, Brisbane, Queensland Australia
(xii) Level 18, 363 George Street, Sydney, NSW, 2000, Australia
{xiii} Level 4, 48 Hunter Street, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia
(xiv) Unit Number 7A, Ground Floor Zone C, Building No. C3, Commercial Area No. 6, Business Gate, Airport

Road, Riyadh, 11683, Saudi Arabia

(xv) Office 901 & 904, Tower 2, Al Fattan Currency House, DIFC - Dubai - United Arab Emirates
(xvi) 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, Delaware 19808 USA

(xvii) 740 Waukegan Road, Suite 340, Deerfield, lllinois, USA 60015

(xviii) 425 South Financial Place, Suite 1550, Chicago IL 60605

{xix) 137-139 rue de I'Université, 75007, Paris, France

(xx) 31, avenue de Ségur, 75007 Paris

{xxi) Habsburgerring 2, Westgate, 50674 Cologne, Germany

{xxii) Via dei Bossi 6, 20121 Milano, Italy

{xxiii} The Lennox, 50 Richmond Street South, Saint Kevin's, Dublin 2, D02 FKO2 Ireland

{xxiv) Pl. Matachowskiego 2, 00-066 Warsaw, Poland

{xxv) Calle Escoles Pies, 102, 08017 Barcelona, Spain

(o) Calle Serrano, 116, 28006 Madrid, Spain

(poxvii) Suite 4102, Tower One Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong

Vi) pumbai 400012

(exix) C/O Dwf Lip, Sentinel, 103 Waterloo Street, Glasgow, Scotland, G2 7BW

3 Trade and other receivables

C/O Vaish Associates, 106 Peninsula Centre, Behind Piramal Chambers, Dr. 5.5. Rao Road, Parel,

2024
£'000
Prepayments 88
88
4 Trade and other payables
2024
£'000
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 210
210
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings are interest free and repayable on demand.
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Company Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Period from 30 June 2023 to 30 April 2024

5 Cumulative redeemable preference shares

Financial liabilities

2024
£'000

Non-current liabilities
Cumulative redeemable preference shares 46,896
Uncompounded interest 463
47,359

Preference shares are redeemable cumulative preference shares with a coupon rate of 12% per annum
which compounds quarterly. Half of the annual preferential dividend accrued in any 12 month period may be
paid in cash at the discretion of Aquila Topco Limited. The preference shares are issued at an issue price of
£0.0001 per share and are redeemable eight years from the date of issue, on sale of the business or at any
time at the option of Aquila Topco Limited. The shares are unsecured borrowings of the Group and are not
publicly traded. These instruments are measured at cost and the Directors consider that the carrying amount
approximates to their fair value.

These redeemable cumulative preference shares do not contain any equity component and are classified
as financial liabilities in their entirety. No dividends were paid on redeemable cumulative preference shares
in the period.

6 Share capital

2024
£'000
Allotted, issued and fully paid
100,000,000 A ordinary shares of £0.01 each - 1,000
1,000

The Company was incorporated on 30 June 2023 and on this date 2 ordinary shares of £1 each were issued.

On 4 October 2023:
s the 2 ordinary shares of £1 each were divided into 200 ordinary shares of £0.01 each;
s the Company issued 99,999,800 ordinary shares at a nominal value and paid up to £0.01 per share,
and
¢ all the ordinary shares of £0.01 each were re-designated as A ordinary shares of £0.01 each.

7 Employee information and Directors' remuneration

The Company has no employees.

None of the Directors received remuneration for services to the Company during the period. For
remuneration of key management personnel in respect of their remuneration for service performed to the
Group, see note 24 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Aquila Topco Limited (No. 14971854) B 68



Unaudited information

Alternative Performance Measures ('APMs')
In the reporting of financial information, the Group uses certain measures that are not required under IFRS.

These additional measures {commonly referred to as APMs) provide the Group's stakeholders with additional
information on the performance of the business. These measures are consistent with those used internally,
and are considered insightful to understanding the financial performance of the Group. The Group's APMs
provide an important measure of how the Group is performing by providing a meaningful comparison of how
the business is managed and measured on a day-to-day basis and achieves consistency and comparability
between reporting periods.

These APMs may not be directly comparable with similar measures reported by other companies and they
are not intended to be a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measures. All Income Statement measures are
provided for continuing operations unless otherwise stated.

APM
Net revenue

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Revenue

Definition and purpose
Revenue less recoverable expenses

Recoverable expenses do not attract a profit margin and can vary significantly month-to-month such that
they may distort the link between revenue and the performance of the Group. Net revenue is widely
reported in the legal sector as the key measure reflecting underlying trading, and allows greater
comparability with other legal businesses.

Reconciliation 2024

£'000
Revenue 320,857
Recoverable expenses (59,396)
Net revenue 261,461
APM

Adjusting items
Closest equivalent statutory measure
None

Definition and purpose
Those items which the Group excludes from its statutory metrics to arrive at adjusted profit or cash flow
metrics in order to present further measures of the Group's performance,

These include items which are significant in size or by nature are non-trading or non-recurring. This
provides a comparison of how the business is managed and measured on a day-to-day basis and
provides consistency and comparability between reporting periods, as well as allows our resuits to be
compared more fairly with other similar businesses.

Reconciliation 2024

£'000
Other impairment 106
Amortisation of intangible assets — acquired (note 4) 16,922
Non-underlying items (note 2) 27,677
Total of adjusting items 44,705
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Unaudited information (continued)

APM

Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, impairment and non-underlying items
(‘adjusted EBITDA")

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Operating loss

Definition and purpose
Operating loss adjusted for adjusting items, as detailed in note 2, and adding back depreciation and
amortisation.

Adjusted EBITDA is useful as a measure of comparative operating performance between both previous
periods, and other companies as it is reflective of adjustments for adjusting items and other factors that
affect operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA removes the effect of depreciation and amortisation, and
adjusting items as described above, as well as items relating to capital structure (finance costs and
income) and items outside the control of management.

Reconciliation 2024

£'000
Operating loss (14,139)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8,011
Other depreciation and amortisation 2,361
Total of adjusting items 44,705
Adjusted EBITDA 40,938
APM

Net debt (excluding IFRS 16)

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Cash and cash equivalents less borrowings (including the supplier payments facility)

Definition and purpose

Net debt comprises cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearing loans and borrowings (including the
supplier payments facility).

Net debt is one measure that can be used to indicate the strength of the Group's statement of financial
position and can be a useful measure of the indebtedness of the Group. This metric excludes loan notes,
preference shares and the Group's lease liabilities under IFRS 16 in order to provide consistency with
how the Group manages and reports its indebtedness and also providing consistency with the definition
of Net debt under the Group's principal banking agreement.

Reconciliation 2024

£'000
Cash and cash equivalents 21,820
Bank and other loans (244,578)
Supplier payments facility (4,358)
Net Debt 227,116
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Unaudited information (continued)

APM
Lock-up days

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Not applicable

Definition and purpose
Lock-up days comprise work-in-progress ('WIP') days, repreésenting the amount of time between
performing work and invoicing clients; and debtor days, representing the length of time between

invoicing and cash collection. WIP days are calculated as unbilled revenue divided by annualised net
revenue multiplied by 365 days. Debtor days are calculated as trade and other receivables, divided by

annualised net revenue multiplied by 365 days. Annualised net revenue is the total pro-forma net
revenue for the previous 12 month period with adjustments for acquisitions.

Reconciliation 2024
£'000
WIP days
Amounts recoverable from clients in respect of unbilled revenue 117,229
Unbilled disbursements 13,083
Total WIP 130,312
Annualised net revenue 434,438
WIP days 109
Debtor days
Trade receivables (net of allowance for doubtful receivables) 117,208
Other receivables 2,534
Total debtors 119,742
Annualised net revenue 434,438
Debtor days 101
Total lock-up days
Total WIP 130,312
Total debtors 119,742
Total lock-up 250,054
Annualised net revenue 434,438
Total lock-up days 210

APM
Annualised net revenue (unaudited)

Closest equivalent statutory measure
Revenue

Definition and purpose

Annualised net revenue reflects the total net revenue for the previous 12-month period inclusive of pro-

forma adjustments for acquisitions.

This metric is utilised as a denominator for lock up, WIP and debtor day calculations which allow
comparability within the legal sector.

greater

Reconciliation
Not applicable
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